[image: image1.wmf] 

[image: image2.wmf] 



1

MAINE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

AUGUSTA, MAINE

IN RE:
)


)
Docket No. 2008-255

MAINE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
)
February 11, 2010

)

Petition for Finding of Public Convenience and Necessity for the Maine Power Reliability Program Consisting of the Construction of Approximately 350 Miles of 34.5 kV and 115 kV Transmission Lines (MPRP)

APPEARANCES:

CHARLES COHEN, Hearing Examiner
VENDEAN VAFIADES, Hearing Examiner
SHARON REISHUS, Maine Public Utilities Commission

JOHN CASHMAN, Maine Public Utilities Commission

JAMES BUCKLEY, Maine Public Utilities Commission
CHARLES COHEN, Maine Public Utilities Commission
FAITH HUNTINGTON, Maine Public Utilities Commission

LISA FINK, Maine Public Utilities Commission

MICHAEL CANNATA, Maine Public Utilities Commission

ERIC BRYANT, Office of the Public Advocate

AGNES GORMLEY, Office of the Public Advocate

ROBERT FAGAN, Consultant, Office of the Public Advocate
JARED DES ROSIERS, Pierce Atwood, Central Maine Power Company

THOMAS WELCH, Pierce Atwood, Central Maine Power Company

ERIC STINNEFORD, Central Maine Power Company

NORA HEALY, Verrill & Dana, Bangor Hydro-Electric Company
ANDREW LANDRY, Preti Flaherty, IECG
GREG CUNNINGHAM, Conservation Law Foundation

RICHARD SILKMAN, GridSolar

MARK ISAACSON, GridSolar

WILLIAM FERDINAND, ISO-New England

MARY FOURNIER, Intervener

CONFERENCE COMMENCED (February 11, 2010, 9:01 a.m.)

MR. COHEN:  Good morning.  We'll resume the hearings in docket number 2008-255.  The first order of business today is the testimony of Mr. Fagan, the Public Advocate's witness.  And he is present, and I'm not sure if you've been sworn in or not in this proceeding.  Why don't I do that then?  Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you're about to give in this proceeding will be wholly truthful?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. COHEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And, Eric, you want to --
MR. BRYANT:  Good morning.  Will you state your name for the record, please?
MR. FAGAN:  My name is Robert Fagan.

MR. BRYANT:  And have you prepared pre-filed testimony on behalf of the Public Advocate's Office, two pieces, one dated January 28th, 2009, and the other dated February 2nd, 2010?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. BRYANT:  Do you have any corrections to either of those testimonies this morning?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. BRYANT:  Can you please tell us which one and what the corrections are?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.  In my direct testimony, the January 28th, 2009 document, the first one is on page six at line 20.  The number seven shows up on that line.  That number should be nine.

MR. BRYANT:  Okay.  And next?

MR. FAGAN:  On page 35 in the table at the top of the page, the last line of the table, there's a series of numbers associated with each of the dispatch scenarios.  In the third one, D3, the number three should be changed to the number two.  And in the fifth column for dispatch D5, the number seven should be changed to the number nine.

MR. BRYANT:  And do you have more corrections?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.  One more page, page 47, at -- towards the bottom of the page, at line 25, the word contracted should be replaced with the words expected peak.  And at line 27 on the same page, the word contractual should be replaced with the word reasonable.

MR. BRYANT:  And are those all your changes?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. BRYANT:  So there are no changes to your surrebuttal testimony?

MR. FAGAN:  No.

MR. BRYANT:  Do you adopt the testimony in these two documents under oath today?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. BRYANT:  Okay, the witness is available for cross examination.

MR. COHEN:  Mr. Welch?

MR. WELCH:  Thank you.  Mr. Fagan, do you agree that the simple fact that a generating unit clears in the forward capacity market for the year 2013 does not, by itself, imply the unit should be considered as available throughout the ten-year planning period for transmission planning purposes?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I do agree with that, and I think as -- there's a discovery response to that effect also and the full response in that discovery response was recognizing that my testimony was addressing the entirety of the capacity that was represented when I made the statement that you need to take account of the entirety of the capacity that clears in the forward capacity market.

MR. WELCH:  With respect to that additional comment, just going back to the -- the question itself, if there is a generating unit that clears in the FCM, you are not suggesting by that, the simple fact that it clears for 2013, that it is -- that that fact alone should imply that that particular unit should continue to be considered available throughout the planning period for transmission planning purposes?

MR. FAGAN:  No, I'm not implying that.

MR. WELCH:  Do you agree that NERC standards require that the transmission planner must, in a compliant plan, study the performance of the system at all projected firm transfers?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.  The planner should study the system at all projected firm transfers, that's correct.

MR. WELCH:  And do you agree that where the system planning study shows that there are violations at one or more projected firm transfers, the planner has an obligation to develop a plan that addresses all those violations?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. WELCH:  In your surrebuttal testimony, you rely on the June 2009 report released by the FERC staff in your criticism of the LaCapra NTA assessment of demand response?
MR. FAGAN:  I rely in part on that report.  I also rely on the information concerning the amount of demand response that has already cleared in the FCM and also the amount of demand response that qualified but did not clear in both the second and third forward capacity market auctions.  I also rely upon the fact that Maine currently has over 500 megawatts of demand response in the existing ISO-New England demand response programs.
MR. WELCH:  Do you know whether FERC has adopted the staff report or otherwise verified its results?
MR. FAGAN:  No, I do not know that.

MR. WELCH:  Do you agree that the report describes demand response potential and does not purport to estimate what is likely to be achieved?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I -- I do understand that that's what the report describes.  But coupled with that I also know that Maine already has over 500 megawatts of assets in place for demand response so that bolsters my confidence in the numbers in the FERC staff report.

MR. WELCH:  You indicate in -- I think on page 15 of your surrebuttal testimony, you have a chart that shows the demand response in 2019 available to the C&I sector would be 492 megawatts.  Is that how you read that chart?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I read that under the business as usual for the other DR programs.
MR. WELCH:  Do you know what the expected contribution to peak load of the industrial class is projected to be in Maine for 2019?
MR. FAGAN:  Of the entire industrial class?
MR. WELCH:  Yes.

MR. FAGAN:  Offhand, I don't know that.

MR. WELCH:  Are you aware of testimony in this case of Mr. Davulis that the industrial class comprises about 20 percent of the expected sales for CMP in 20,019 -- in 2019?

MR. FAGAN:  I'm roughly aware.  I don't -- I wouldn't know the exact number without referring to Mr. Davulis's testimony or data responses.

MR. WELCH:  Would you accept, subject to check, that it's about 20 percent of the expected?
MR. FAGAN:  I would accept it subject to check but how industrial generation factors into those numbers is -- is very important.  It's very easy to lose sight of the accounting, given the amount of industrial generation, some of which is behind the meter and some of which is not.

MR. WELCH:  Are you aware that in the needs analysis, the behind-the-meter generation was expressly modeled?

MR. FAGAN:  Generally, I am aware.  Can you direct me to where in the needs analysis you're referring to?
MR. WELCH:  I'm only asking whether you had taken into account the fact that in the needs analysis, behind-the-meter generation was modeled in your assessment of incremental demand response.  Did you take that into account and, if so, how?

MR. FAGAN:  Did I take that into account, and, if so, how in regards to what?
MR. WELCH:  To your estimate of the available demand response for Maine.

MR. FAGAN:  The way in which I took into account the estimate of available -- excuse me?
MR. COHEN:  Just keep going.

MR. FAGAN:  The way in which I took into account the available demand response in Maine was primarily by reference to CMP's responses to data requests that -- for example, OPA 13-1E, I believe, where CMP confirmed that they did not consider or include demand response when putting in the loads that they used in their planning models.
MR. WELCH:  Yes, but the question -- excuse me, have you finished your answer?

MR. FAGAN:  Go ahead.

MR. WELCH:  The question was whether in your assessment of the demand response which should be added into the needs assessment or added into the NTA analysis you considered the manner in which the needs analysis had already considered the operation of behind-the-meter generation?

MR. FAGAN:  I believe I did, yes.  The --

MR. WELCH:  Could you describe the manner in which you did that?

MR. FAGAN:  My understanding of the way the behind-the-meter generation was included in the needs analysis is based on the table in Exhibit B-2 on page seven of nine.  In -- in that table, for example, for the top four industrial customers, the amount of load modeled for those four customers is -- is listed there.  In comparison to that amount of load modeled, the response to Examiner's 16-4 indicates the projected forecasted peak for selected large industrial customers.  When you compare those two sums, what shows is what appears to be on the order of 200 megawatts of industrial load considered as part of the planning model that is not actually considered to be contributing to forecasted peak.  It's -- it's that point of information that leads me to believe that there is just too much load put into the planning model at those four industrial facilities, separate from demand response capabilities that might also be able to be implemented on the system.

MR. WELCH:  Now, in your -- when you were using or when you were bringing forward the results of the FERC study as part of the basis for your recommendation --
MR. FAGAN:  The results of which study?
MR. WELCH:  The FERC -- the FERC staff study.
MR. FAGAN:  The FERC study, okay.
MR. WELCH:  Sorry.  That 492 megawatt number is relative to the other numbers in that study, is that fair to say?

MR. FAGAN:  That 492 is relative to the other numbers in the FERC study?

MR. WELCH:  In other words, they're -- when they are making an assessment of demand response potential, it is in relation to the other figures that they have brought forward with respect to Maine.

MR. FAGAN:  I would presume that that's the case.

MR. WELCH:  And is it also the case that the FERC study or the FERC report shows a megawatt load for Maine of 2,812 megawatts?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes, that's correct.  They seem to show a gross load number rather than a net load number.

MR. WELCH:  And that the demand response potential that they indicate would also be in relationship to that gross load number?

MR. FAGAN:  It probably would be.

MR. WELCH:  And is it the case that the FERC staff report estimates Maine's peak load in 2018 to be 3,161 megawatts?

MR. FAGAN:  That appears correct.

MR. WELCH:  So again, the estimate that they have made with respect to demand response potential would be in relationship to that gross load number if that's what it is?
MR. FAGAN:  It would.  At this point, there is a section of that demand response report, not completely clear to me, where they discuss whether or not behind-the-meter generation is considered.  And they say that it's not considered, and if you like, I can try to find that section of the report that says that.  But in my reading of that section, it wasn't clear.
MR. WELCH:  Do you know -- do you know whether that report -- strike that.  Turning to a different area, do you agree that MPRP, as proposed by Central Maine Power, would provide additional transmission capacity for wind resources to move their product to market?
MR. FAGAN:  It certainly provides additional transmission capacity.

MR. WELCH:  Is it -- is it your view --

MR. FAGAN:  I wasn't finished.  It certainly provides additional transmission capacity.  Whether or not that additional transmission capacity is necessary to move wind resources to market, whatever level of wind resources, is a different question.
MR. WELCH:  Well, let me follow up on that, if I may.  Are you suggesting that there is no level of wind resources for which additional transmission capacity would be helpful?
MR. FAGAN:  No, I'm not suggesting that at all.

MR. WELCH:  So at some level of additional wind resources, the additional transmission capacity brought on by MPRP would be useful?

MR. FAGAN:  At some level of additional wind capacity, there may be a requirement for additional transmission capacity.  The extent, the location, and the timing of such new transmission capacity is not known.  Nobody has studied that.

MR. WELCH:  Is it -- have -- have you discussed with wind developers whether they would view Maine more or less favorably if Maine does not build MPRP?
MR. FAGAN:  No, I have not discussed anything with Maine wind developers.  What I do know, though, as I stated in my surrebuttal is that there has been considerable development of wind already in Maine absent MPRP and even absent clearing in the forward capacity market for some of those resources.
MR. WELCH:  Is it your experience in observing electricity markets that the fact that one generating plant can be sited means that any number of future generating plants can also be sited in the same jurisdiction, or would be economic to do so from their investors' point of view?

MR. FAGAN:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that -- that question?

MR. WELCH:  You indicated that you observed that there are some wind projects developed or under development in Maine.  And my question is whether that fact suggests to you that there is no limit on the number of future wind projects that can be developed without additional transmission development?
MR. FAGAN:  No.  No, definitely not.

MR. WELCH:  If you assume -- I will put this as a hypothetical -- that MPRP is needed for reliability, would you recommend that the Commission not approve the MPRP on the theory that there might be a better way to accommodate wind development?
MR. FAGAN:  The way that you frame that question, no.  I would frame the question quite differently.  I would --
MR. WELCH:  -- happily --
MR. FAGAN:  Okay.
MR. WELCH:  -- to do that.  Do you have any reason to believe that transmission built for the principal purpose of supporting wind development would receive PTF rate treatment?
MR. FAGAN:  It's my understanding that wind [sic] built principally for wind development might not receive PTF rate treatment, depending upon what approval process such transmission went through.  It is a gray area.  Most transmission has both economic and reliability benefits.  It's not an easy question to answer.

MR. WELCH:  Is it your view that if a transmission system is adequate for new wind generation to meet the minimum New England interconnection standard, in other words assume that there is sufficient transmission for a particular project to meet the minimum interconnection standard, that that fact also means that the transmission available to that project is sufficient to encourage wind developer investment?

MR. FAGAN:  What we've seen so far is that it has been sufficient to encourage development.  What is unknown is at what level might that no longer be sufficient.  And the MPRP study has not attempted, because it wasn't set out to do such a thing, it has not attempted to address that basically economic issue, how much more build out do you need to get more than X hundreds or thousands of megawatts of wind in place.
MR. WELCH:  But you agree that there is some point at which that is the case?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes, in -- absolutely.  In theory, there's some point that that's the case.  If they put a thousand megawatts of offshore wind in that section of Maine that ties into the midcoast area, you're probably going to need some reinforcement for that.  But whether or not that might be needed in three years or eight years or 12 years is unknown and there has not been a study that looked carefully at that.  Instead, we have a study that is focused on reliability and is proposing to spend $1.5 billion.  Now the opportunity cost of spending $1.5 billion on MPRP includes perhaps not having as much money available, in the near term, for reinforcement that might be better targeted for wind resources.
MR. WELCH:  So is -- so you are not suggesting, I take it, that having increments of transmission above what is needed to meet the minimum interconnection standard for a particular project is simply a matter of indifference to a developer?
MR. FAGAN:  No, I'm not suggesting that.

MR. WELCH:  You have some comments in your surrebuttal testimony concerning GridSolar?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. WELCH:  Did you do any independent analysis of whether the GridSolar alternative, as a non-transmission alternative, would be more or less costly than the alternatives described in the LaCapra Associates report?

MR. FAGAN:  No, I did not.  My analysis of the GridSolar proposal was limited to a somewhat high-level assessment.

MR. WELCH:  Did you do any independent analysis of the temporal pattern and quantity of solar PV build out required to maintain reliability?

MR. FAGAN:  Not a -- no, I did not.  However, in thinking about and reviewing the GridSolar analysis and in concert with the rest of my testimony, what's clear to me is that the existing energy efficiency resources, demand response resources, and the current state of load on the system is such that there's probably less of a requirement for solar PV in the near years.  And coupled with the declining cost projections, if such declining cost projections actually come to fruition, you might be very well positioned three, five years from now to be taking a very hard look at how incremental solar resources could help reliability.
MR. WELCH:  You have --

MR. FAGAN:  That's essentially what I say in my surrebuttal.

MR. WELCH:  You have no independent -- or you have not done any independent analysis concerning the probability of continued declines in PV solar?

MR. FAGAN:  No, I have not.  And as I stated in my surrebuttal, that's a key factor clearly.  But, fortunately, you have the luxury of waiting a bit.

MR. WELCH:  Were you aware of the impacts in the PV solar industry of changes in policy in Europe in 2009?

MR. FAGAN:  Peripherally.  I was aware that what happened in Spain was a major disruption to the market, for example.  But I don't study that part of the solar PV market intensely so I can't speak to that.

MR. WELCH:  Did you do any independent analysis of the financing needs of GridSolar?
MR. FAGAN:  No, I did not.

MR. WELCH:  I have no further questions.  Thank you.

MR. COHEN:  Mike?

MR. CANNATA:  I have one area I'd like to explore with you, Mr. Fagan, if I may.  Have you been following the technical conferences and the hearings in this docket?
MR. FAGAN:  I -- I have.  In the past two weeks, I've probably listened to between 50 and 75 percent of the -- of the testimony.

MR. CANNATA:  Okay.  And what I want to do is just talk about the needs analysis for both the transmission alternative and non-transmission alternatives for a moment.  And I want to direct you to your February 2nd, 2010 testimony, on page five.  Okay?  And in there, at numeral five, you seem to indicate that the NTA needs are over-stated.
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.  Not just at that location, in a number of places throughout both of my testimonies.
MR. CANNATA:  All right.  Would you explain your reasoning, please?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.  The NTA analysis starts with an NTA need that is based upon the results of CMP's transmission needs analysis.  CMP's transmission needs analysis, in my view, uses too much load, doesn't use enough demand response, uses too strict dispatch scenarios, and the earlier ones used load forecasts that were too high and also eliminates all of the SPSs.  So the NTA analysis starts out with sort of the most extreme case.  It also does not include the effect of any incremental improvements.  For example, whatever affect the smart grid two transformer would have had on threshold load levels was not considered in the initial NTA analysis.  The NTA analysis has between 1,300 and 1,400 megawatts of supply resources over the course of the period.  They come up with that number, in large part, because of the threshold load levels that help to underpin that analysis.  That's an enormous amount of supply.  I think, certainly given the load forecast changes, that would shift a lot.  And it's my opinion that there's a considerable amount of supply that is not needed, given what's going on with the load forecast demand response resources and energy efficiency.  As soon as you start cutting out a lot of the NTA generation, those costs drop somewhat dramatically.  And, in particular, if you cut out a lot of that generation and you keep MPRP costs the same, you begin to see very quickly -- you would begin to see very quickly a shrinking of the difference between the NTA study and the MPRP study.

If you look at the -- that integrated summary table on I believe it's page four of the NTA study, it shows on the order of a few hundred millions of dollars of difference in net present value between the transmission solution with energy efficiency and the NTA solutions.  You hold MPRP constant, as CMP has been proposing -- they have not modified the scope of MPRP as the load forecasts have evolved over the course of this proceeding.  You hold MPRP costs constant and at the same time you require a lot less NTA supply, you will very quickly see that -- that cost difference shrink, even using their methodologies.  At a high level, it -- it seems fairly straightforward that you should see quite a shrinking of that difference, even using all of their assumptions as they've done in the NTA study.

MR. CANNATA:  And you used -- you reduced the amount of generation because the generation is on the margin from an economic basis?

MR. FAGAN:  I didn't reduce the amount of generation.  I didn't do anything like that in what I did.  At this point in time, I think that analysis should be done and a more careful assessment of how much new generation Might be required as part of an NTA solution should be done.
MR. CANNATA:  I was referring to your earlier response when you said if you could -- if you reduced the amount of generation, the cost differential comes down pretty fast.  And the reason why you were using generation, because that is on the margin in terms of resources and costs?
MR. FAGAN:  I was -- I was -- on the margin, in terms of adding new increments of generation, that they add, for example, 800 megawatts of generation in the south for 2012, they add 500 megawatts of generation in the north over the period, I'm saying that when you take these other factors into account, lower load forecast, proper use of the actual load coincident system peak load seen by industrial paper -- pulp and paper mills, demand response resources, when you take those things into account, I think you will dramatically change the need for 1,300 megawatts to come up with an NTA solution.
MR. CANNATA:  Okay.  So that's because the generation is the only alternative you would have to breach the difference between energy efficiency in DR and the need?
MR. FAGAN:  Yeah, essentially.
MR. CANNATA:  Right, right.
MR. FAGAN:  You need all of those things and I think they've got way too much supply.  I think they had way too much supply back in the beginning and, given where we are now, I think they really have way too much supply.

MR. CANNATA:  All right, let's explore another possibility.  Are you familiar with how the transmission needs analysis was performed by ISO and CMP?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I'm -- I'm familiar to a certain depth.
MR. CANNATA:  Okay.

MR. FAGAN:  Not as familiar, for example, as Peter Lanzalotta probably is, but I am familiar.
MR. CANNATA:  I had hoped to bring this to Peter first but schedules have changed.  Are you aware that the transmission needs analysis was done in accordance with the ISO-New England reliability criteria PP3?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes, generally.

MR. CANNATA:  And are you also aware that ISO has testified that even though the criteria states that this criterion is only applied to the bulk power system, it was always intended to be applied to the entire PTF system?

MR. FAGAN:  I'm aware of that, yes.

MR. CANNATA:  Now, are you also aware that in the analysis, that a full N-1-1 analysis was not performed by ISO or CMP?

MR. FAGAN:  I am aware that there was some N-1-1 not done, yes.

MR. CANNATA:  And the N-1-1 that was not done included 345 or bulk facilities as the N-1 and then some other facility for the N-1 facility -- N-1-1 facility.  Is that your understanding?

MR. FAGAN:  Yeah, it's all -- that's my understanding that some of the N-1-1 was definitely 345 contingencies, not just 115 contingencies as the second contingency.

MR. CANNATA:  So would you agree that the N-1-1 testing that was not performed is basically on the 115 kV system?

MR. FAGAN:  I can't -- I can't really answer that.  You're right at the point where I would need to go back to those documents and look a little more carefully.
MR. CANNATA:  But let's try -- if the first contingency had to be a 345 bulk element, that means the first contingency was never a 115 kV element, doesn't it?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, if the first contingency was bulk, right, not at 115 by de3finition, sure.
MR. CANNATA:  So would you say that at least some of the testing that was not done was on the 115 system for N-1-1 conditions?

MR. FAGAN:  Oh, that's probably true, sure.

MR. CANNATA:  Okay.  Now, are you also familiar with the threshold load level analysis performed by CMP?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I am, in the context of it was done to feed information to the NTA study.  Is that what you're referring to?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes.

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MR. CANNATA:  And in that analysis, I believe CMP broke up the Maine system into areas and subareas.  Is that your understanding?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, that is my understanding.

MR. CANNATA:  And to determine the need, didn't they -- do you know how they determined the need in each of those subareas?

MR. FAGAN:  Generally, I do but --
MR. CANNATA:  -- describe it, please?

MR. FAGAN:  But -- can I -- let me just finish because this is an important point I think.  I asked a series of questions, OPA 3-35, I asked the questions three times, so there was an initial response, a supplemental response, and then another supplemental response.  And that question was essentially tell me exactly how you got the threshold load levels that you used in your spreadsheets in the NTA model.  Point me to the number or show me the computation.  I never got that.  What I got finally, the third time this question was responded to, was a set of files, many files, none of which contained a specific pointer to where -- how those numbers were arrived at and none of which contained a specific algorithm.  Apparently, there's some judgment involved, understandably, in coming up with those numbers.  But it was not revealed to me exactly how that was done.

MR. CANNATA:  All right.  Then would you take as a hypothetical then that if I describe generally how the process was done, and I'll follow it up with Mr. Lanzalotta tomorrow, that the subareas, one line was taken out of service and another line was then taken out of service to determine the reliability level of the existing system in those subareas?

MR. FAGAN:  That sounds reasonable.

MR. CANNATA:  Okay.  And now when you do that, does that not mean, in your mind, that the subarea was designed to a full N-1-1 criterion?

MR. FAGAN:  If you're doing that, that stands to reason, your conclusion, yes.

MR. CANNATA:  And if you have needs that are addressed on a full N-1-1 for NTA type analysis and a transmission needs analysis that is not a full N-1-1 analysis, what bias does that put into the equation when comparing NTAs and transmission alternatives?
MR. FAGAN:  At least more supply in the NTA equation.
MR. CANNATA:  So it biases the result against the NTAs?

MR. FAGAN:  Absolutely.  It would result in more generation required in the NTA analysis than would otherwise be the case --
MR. CANNATA:  Right.

MR. FAGAN:  -- if you were using the same criteria.
MR. CANNATA:  Thank you.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Mr. Fagan, could I turn your attention to the NTA study that was filed by CMP in July of 2008?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  And could I ask you to take a look at page four -- page four on the bottom, that summary table?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Could you describe your understanding of what's included in the societal cost to Maine ratepayers row on the very top of that chart?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.  In my direct testimony, at page four, I reproduce the detail that went into those five numbers at the top of that chart.  The essence of what's there is an attempt to reflect the total costs to serve Maine load, and that includes the fact that Maine would pay only an eight percent share of the transmission for the transmission solution and that Maine would pay full freight for NTA solutions.  It also reflects the energy efficiency costs.  It also reflects for -- for -- it also reflects demand response recovery costs for the NTA solutions.

So I think the three key elements that make up those numbers are the transmission costs, the NTA costs, and the way in which NTA generation participates in the forward capacity market, and the way in which that dynamic affects the overall level of costs that Mainers have to pay for the capacity part of their bill, which in this table, represents roughly 15 to 16 percent of the total societal cost so it's a very significant amount but also, you know, take account of the fact that these numbers are very outdated given -- given what's been going on.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  And in your -- in your statement that it includes the total cost of serving Maine load, you didn't -- and then you went to describe the subcomponents, you did not reference energy costs.  Are energy costs included --
MR. FAGAN:  Energy costs are absolutely in there.  In fact, they're the biggest component of this.
MS. HUNTINGTON:  That was what I was going to ask you.
MR. FAGAN:  Okay, yes, yes, on the order of -- for this tabulation, on the order of 8.2, $8.3 billion, net present value.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Okay.  So my question then is could you just describe in a qualitative sense, to the extent you haven't put numbers on this, the relative effects between the transmission solution and the non-transmission solution -- solutions, on the energy component, the loss component, and the congestion component on the Maine LMP?

MR. FAGAN:  The energy cost of line item that goes into that number is -- is not broken down by energy congestion and loss component in the NTA study.  There -- there are references to the congestion and loss amounts in different places in this docket.  My take on this is there was not much of a difference between the two numbers.  That doesn't surprise me.  Whether or not the difference is significant is unclear to me.  And where we are now with respect to load, the New England system supply curve, gas prices, sort of will affect -- will dramatically -- significantly, excuse me, significantly affect those energy cost numbers.
I think I've heard in a number of different -- from a number of different witnesses that the differences in LMPs between Maine and the rest of New England are due, have been due, are due primarily to loss effects.  And that's my understanding and I agree with that, there has not been a lot of congestion.  The amount of -- the component of the energy cost associated with losses is tied directly to clearly prices in the wholesale supply market.  So given where we are now, not only all the energy but the loss component has also been affected by that.  I think I'll stop there unless you -- unless there's -- do you --
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Well, actually what I was looking for was a more qualitative comment on the relative effects of increasing transmission, such as would be done by the MPRP, versus adding NTAs.

MR. FAGAN:  Okay.  Perhaps the primary effect of increasing transmission is -- is to -- well, one effect of increasing transmission will be to lower the overall losses on the system.  Now it's my understanding that that actually shows up as an increase in Maine price, all other things being equal, when you look at the way LMPs are formulated.  That --
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Could --

MR. FAGAN:  -- additional transmission might -- and lower losses might affect the dispatch pattern, could certainly affect the clearing price, and that could be a -- that could have a greater effect than the loss effect.  And I think that's what has been shown when they talk about the LMPs in Maine being a little bit lower with MPRP than without.  I think what almost has to underpin that, given that congestion is not really that much of an issue, what would have to underpin that is the way that the clearing price mechanism works in New England is such that we see some lower prices.
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Could you elaborate on your -- on your comment that reducing losses would have the effect of increasing the -- the Maine LMP?

MR. FAGAN:  When -- when you look at the price, the wholesale market price in Maine, you can -- let me give you -- here's the best way that I can think about this.  Think about the system that's uncongested on a normal New England day.  And absent the use of a loss component in the LMP, prices would be the same everywhere.  As soon as you put that loss component in, the prices change.  And the way prices change is in the areas that are exporting, for example, Maine or New Brunswick, into New England, you see lower prices.  That's very simply the effect the loss component has on the LMPs.

Now as you add more transmission and you reduce the impedance of the paths down, the -- the algorithms used to come up with LMP reflect that and the loss component -- the LMPs in Maine and New Brunswick, for example -- well, let's stick with Maine -- you put a bunch more MPRP transmission in Maine, it will have the effect of equilibrating, towards equilibration, all else equal.  You know, a loss-less system, prices would be the same everywhere.  You have some losses so the Maine prices are a little bit lower because of that.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Thank you.

MR. COHEN:  Eric, redirect?

MR. BRYANT:  No, I don't have any.

DR. SILKMAN:  Chuck, could I ask a couple of follow ups (inaudible) Tom Welch (inaudible)?
MR. COHEN:  Yes.

DR. SILKMAN:  Was that pregnant pause for any particular reason or was it --
MR. COHEN:  No, I'm thinking -- I'm contemplating procedure.

DR. SILKMAN:  Hi, my name is Rich Silkman with GridSolar.

MR. FAGAN:  Morning.

DR. SILKMAN:  Mr. Welch asked you a question about transmission capacity and its relationship to wind.  Do you recall that?

MR. FAGAN:  Yes.

DR. SILKMAN:  Does it matter for a wind developer whether that transmission capacity comes in the form of an MPRP or a DC line from Bangor to Boston?

MR. FAGAN:  I'm loathe to try to speak for wind developers.  I don't know.  But at a high level, if the effect of the DC line is to increase the overall amount of capacity that is in place -- I'm sorry, the overall amount of firm transfer capacity between, say, Maine and the Boston area, it might not matter.  I don't know if there are particulars about obtaining transmission service over a DC project, (inaudible) project, for example, how that might relate to the costs or the perceived costs that a wind developer sees if comparing that to just MPRP transmission.  Now I know we have an open access environment and ideally it doesn't matter, but I don't know if there are practical considerations that wind developers would take into account.
DR. SILKMAN:  Last week, I don't know whether you were for any of the cross examination of Brian Conroy?
MR. FAGAN:  I only caught a very small part of that, Mr. Conroy's testimony.
DR. SILKMAN:  Well, if you can't answer this, I understand, but Mr. Conroy expressed some concern in his rebuttal testimony and also during that discussion about situations on the Maine grid when there is light loading and high generation.  Do you remember any of that conversation?
MR. FAGAN:  I don't -- I don't remember that conversation.  I am aware, in general, of the issue.
DR. SILKMAN:  He indicated that -- and this was in particular with respect to solar -- that there could be a potential problem with grid stability if you had a situation where there was a significant amount of intermittent generation like solar when you had a condition of light load and high amounts of solar operating on the system.  Do you recall that or, in general, is that a concern that grid planners are worried about?
MR. FAGAN:  I wouldn't share that concern.  Solar is a daytime resource.  If you're talking tens or even hundreds of megawatts of daytime solar resources in Maine, I -- show me the details behind the concern and I might have a different opinion.  But offhand, that doesn't seem to be a problem.  I wouldn't see that as a problem.
DR. SILKMAN:  Would it be more of a problem with wind?

MR. FAGAN:  It's a different -- it's a whole different animal.  Grid connected wind is -- is generally connected at the transmission system level, needs to be transported down to the load.  PV -- well, depending on where it is, PV is much closer to the load and has somewhat predictable -- has somewhat more predictable output -- output characteristics than wind.  You have to take a few more things into consideration when dealing with the variable output of the nature of wind, but I certainly don't know that there's stability concerns that should be tacked onto this, certainly at an early stage of penetration of wind onto the grid.
DR. SILKMAN:  The additional transfer capacity that the MPRP would permit south into New England is on the order of a thousand megawatts, give or take, is that correct?

MR. FAGAN:  Yeah, I -- I think so.  I remember Maine-New Hampshire as being on the order of 1,600 now and on the order of 2,400 or so after MPRP.  So something like on the order of 800 to a thousand is probably correct.

DR. SILKMAN:  Do you know whether or not the Maine grid from a stability perspective could handle an additional 800 to a thousand megawatts of wind generation located today?

MR. FAGAN:  I -- I need to be careful.  It probably could, but I am not an expert on interpreting stability effects on power systems.  Put that question to Mr. Lanzalotta.

DR. SILKMAN:  Okay.  That's fair.  Thank you very much.

MR. COHEN:  Tom, re-cross?

MR. WELCH:  Just a couple, thank you.  You indicated a moment ago in response to a question from Ms. Huntington that there would be an equilibrium effect that would take place with respect to reductions and losses.  Do you recall that answer?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, I do, all else equal.

MR. WELCH:  Is it -- is it the case that reducing losses in the system will necessarily increase the efficiency of dispatch in the system?

MR. FAGAN:  You have to define what you mean by increasing the efficiency of the dispatch but I'll answer the question.  When you reduce -- when you add transmission and reduce losses, you change the loss factors that the operators apply to generating plants and that could change the position of which generator might get dispatched first or which generating might get dispatched before or after any other generator.  I mean, that's -- that's how the loss effects impact dispatch.  Losses are not treated physically; they're treated financially and the -- and the dispatch algorithms change when the loss factors that are applicable to generators change.
MR. WELCH:  And is it -- isn't it the case that as those factors change, one of the effects is that there is actually a reduction in the amount of money that customers have to pay for the energy because you're losing less of it over the lines?
MR. FAGAN:  Yes, all else equal and assuming that the effect of that does not lead to, for example, significantly more generation located remotely.  I think was being discussed, you know, yesterday.  There can be some offsetting effects.  You improve the loss characteristics of the transmission system and, all of a sudden, you find yourself relying more on remote generation rather than local generation because of that loss effect.  That's a somewhat extreme characterization but that's one direction.  That's one -- that's one thing that could happen.

MR. WELCH:  Is it -- have you done an analysis to determine whether the impact, to the extent there is any, of this equalization in New England as a result of reducing losses would be greater or less for Maine customers than the effect of reducing the -- you know, the economic impact of reducing the losses themselves?
MR. FAGAN:  No, I have not done an analysis.  I do want to say you've been using the term equalization and I used that term.  Let me just clarify.  When I said equalization, what I mean is a trend towards an equilibrating of those prices.  It certainly doesn't mean that you put in MPRP and all of a sudden the loss component in Maine is identical to the loss component at the ISO-New England hub.  I doubt that that's the case.
MR. WELCH:  And indeed it's likely, given Maine's particular geographic characteristics, that a significant portion of that loss differential would remain, even with MPRP?
MR. FAGAN:  I don't know offhand what the resulting loss differential effect is so I can't say whether or not it would be significant.
MR. WELCH:  Well, can you think of any reason?
MR. FAGAN:  I would say that MPRP is not a superconductor, so there's still going to be a loss difference.
MR. WELCH:  And that loss difference would likely act to the advantage of Maine given where generation is sprinkled throughout New England?

MR. FAGAN:  No, that's what I was saying before.  It's not necessary -- it's not necessarily true -- I don't think it's true at all that the loss difference by itself benefits Maine.  What the loss difference by itself does is slightly raise the price in Maine.  Now, that slightly raises the price to customers; it also slightly raises the price that generators receive.  So you -- you have to look at that -- at that interaction also.  But absent all other effects, that's the direction of the LMPs.  Unfortunately, you can't -- that's a -- that's an unrealistic hypothetical.  There are other effects.

MR. WELCH:  Right.  And one of the other effects is that because the overall -- because the system is being dispatched more efficiently, there will be an overall -- and you're losing less electricity in losses, there would be a countervailing decrease for all customers?
MR. FAGAN:  Well, let's parse that.  When you say the system is dispatched more efficiently, when you put MPRP in, it's -- I don't know that it's going to have a significant difference on the loss factors associated with all of the other generation in New England.  It will more significantly change the effect on Maine generators but you have to look carefully at where Maine generators are in the dispatch order.  For example, it won't have any effect on the dispatch of the hydro, for example.  That's going to be dispatched the way it's dispatched.  It's always in for marginal and it's conditions other than the loss effect that will determine, you know, when and how the hydro is dispatched.

It could have an effect on the mid-merit fossil generation in Maine, but you have to -- you have to run the numbers to really determine this effect.  And I understand that those numbers have been run in the course of this proceeding.  I just wanted to clarify that you -- you need to understand where the benefit is coming from when thinking about the loss component versus the reduced energy component of LMP that might arise from more efficient dispatch.

MR. WELCH:  Thank you.  Nothing further.

MR. COHEN:  Thank you, Mr. Fagan.  We'll just take our morning break a little earlier and then we can reconfigure things while we do that and resume the questioning of staff after the break.
WOMAN:  How long?

MR. COHEN:  Fifteen minutes.

MS. FOURNIER:  Excuse me, Chuck?
MR. COHEN:  Yes, Mary?

MS. FOURNIER:  This is Mary Fournier.  I just wanted to make sure that you know I'm here.

MR. COHEN:  Okay, thank you.

MS. FOURNIER:  -- enter an appearance.

MR. COHEN:  Okay, thanks.

MS. FOURNIER:  Okay, thank you.
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MS. VAFIADES:  Can we get started, please?  Does Conservation Law Foundation have any questions of the staff?
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Yes, we do.  Good morning.  My name is Greg Cunningham.  I'm here on behalf of the Conservation Law Foundation.  Can I refer your attention to pages 43 and 44 of the bench analysis?  And I can -- I can read it to you.  You'll probably recognize it.  On those pages at the bottom, beginning with "Accordingly", the staff indicates, as part of its consideration of non-transmission alternatives in the bench analysis, concludes that, as it says, "The staff believes the record will be well developed on NTAs and at this point in the case the staff is not presenting any of our own analysis on the issue of NTAs."  This was from October of 2009.  Has the staff performed any additional analysis with respect to non-transmission alternatives since the bench analysis?

MR. COHEN:  No.  No, I mean, I -- other than I think there's been preparation for the hearings, but other than that, no, we haven't done that.
MR. BUCKLEY:  Not any analysis that's worthy of being a bench analysis.  We've read testimony, we've gotten prepared for hearings, and things like that.  Some might call that analysis but --
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Your statutes, statutes applicable to the Commission, and your own rules require that an applicant, to the extent that is has engaged in an assessment of non-transmission alternatives, must present those studies as part of a CPCN application, is that correct?

MR. BUCKLEY:  Chapter 330, I assume you're referring to?

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Yes.

MR. BUCKLEY:  I remember something to that effect, yes.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Okay.  Can you describe for us what the staff sees as the role of that analysis?  And I'll give you a couple of options and then leave it wide open for you to respond.  Is the intent that it identify in that case that transmission which could be avoided and, therefore, shouldn't be a part of the CPCN that's ultimately issued?  Is it intended to identify non-transmission alternatives that could be incorporated into the CPCN as part of the solution to the transmission problem that is presented?  Or is it for some other reason?

MR. BUCKLEY:  I think the reason that the non-transmission alternatives are required to be filed as part of an application is to be able to assess what the least-cost solution would be to any transmission needs that are found when a petition is brought.
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Do you see it as within this Commission's purview to incorporate non-transmission components in a CPCN?
MR. BUCKLEY:  In deciding a certificate case, you mean?

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Correct.

MR. BUCKLEY:  If it's all or part of what the Commission finds to be the least-cost solution to the transmission need, yes.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Shifting to another subject, is the staff familiar with Title 35-A, which is the public utilities section of the Maine Codes, Section 3404 which sets out the state wind energy generation goals and specifically suggests that it's a goal of the state to develop 2,000 megawatts of installed capacity of wind by 2015 and 3,000 megawatts of installed capacity by 2020?  Again, the question being are you familiar with that provision.
MR. COHEN:  Generally, yes.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Would you agree that the state goal with a timeframe of 2020 is within the planning horizon being taken into consideration in this case?

MR. BUCKLEY:  2020, yes.

MR. COHEN:  At this point.

MR. BUCKLEY:  Maybe not (inaudible).
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Understood.  There's a further policy within Section 3404, again this is in Title 35-A, that states that it's the policy of the state, that is the state of Maine, in furtherance of the goals that I just described for you that its political subdivisions, agencies, and public officials take every reasonable action to encourage the attraction of appropriately sited development related to wind energy consistent with all state environmental standards.  Are you familiar with that provision?
MR. BUCKLEY:  Somewhat.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Do you interpret that, either based on having just heard it now or your past experience with it, to apply to this Commission and its actions?
MR. COHEN:  Yes.

MR. BUCKLEY:  We are an agency of the state.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Is it the staff's position that, to the extent that these goals are achieved, 3,000 megawatts of wind by 2020, that the CMP system as devised in your staff scenario -- the proposed staff scenario two, could accommodate that degree of wind generation?

MR. BUCKLEY:  Which degree of wind generation?
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  3,000 megawatts by 2020.
MR. CANNATA:  That's an answer we don't have a definitive answer for but probably not.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Is it something that was taken into consideration when designing staff scenario two?

MR. BUCKLEY:  Not 3,000 megawatts.

MR. COHEN:  I think -- you know, I'll go back and sort of point to the bench analysis, and we basically looked at the MPRP and the staff scenario two, at least in the first instance, on an unreliability basis.  That's how it was presented to the Commission, and that's how we reviewed it.  We also said that to really understand what needs to be developed for wind, additional analysis needs to be done.  We did suggest in staff scenario two that there are certain components which might address both reliability and wind access and presented that as part of staff scenario two.
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Understood, and understood that this has been presented predominantly as a reliability case.  But with that having been said, would you agree that the state policy that I quoted to you earlier which, again, says that agencies and public officials shall take every reasonable action to encourage the development of wind, that this might be a circumstance within which an agency could take reasonable action to help perpetuate the goal outlined in this statute?

MR. BUCKLEY:  Right.  I think that -- that section can be a matter that the Commission takes into account when they decide this case.  I think in the bench analysis or the technical conferences where we were asked questions about the bench analysis, we suggested to CMP that there were other reasons besides reliability that we would consider and maybe in the rebuttal stage, they -- if there was an effect on wind development or other things like that, that they should -- they should address it in their rebuttal case.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  That's all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. VAFIADES:  Do the Yarmouth interveners have any questions?

MR. DILWORTH:  Thank you, Commissioner.  Good morning.
MS. VAFIADES:  Are you all set with them being at that table?

MR. COHEN:  Yeah, that's --
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay, thank you.
MR. COHEN:  That's fine.  Yeah, (inaudible) slide a little better (inaudible).

MR. DILWORTH:  Yeah.

MR. COHEN:  Thank you.

MR. DILWORTH:  I want to start by following up on some questions that Mr. des Rosiers asked you about the autotransformer at Raven's Farm.  Under your analysis, the substation and autotransformer at Raven's Farm isn't necessary until some time after 2030 under a 50/50 load analysis and even under an 90/10, not until about 2028.  Is that right?
MR. COHEN:  Hang on one second.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  That's correct.

MR. DILWORTH:  And that's far beyond any reasonable planning horizon, correct?
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Now if, as CMP requests, a autotransformer is constructed at McGuire Road between now and 2028, would that push back the need for a fifth autotransformer in southern Maine even further?

MR. CANNATA:  We saw no need for the McGuire Road transformer in the timeframe of our analysis on either a 50/50 or a 90/10 forecast within those timeframes that you mentioned.  So I don't know why it would be installed.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Just assume for the moment that the Commission decides to approve a autotransformer at McGuire Road and it is constructed, would that diminish the need for an autotransformer at Raven's Farm even further?

MR. CANNATA:  At first blush yes, but I think I'd have to caveat that.  McGuire Road is south of South Gorham, and there's two autotransformers at South Gorham right now so that may act like a blocking effect for any positive impact on the Portland area.  I think the area north of Portland might be more or less independent with its needs.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  In terms of the 345 kV line from Surowiec to Raven's Farm, the 3020 line, at what load level do you, in your opinion, believe that is necessary?

MR. CANNATA:  Excuse me one second.

MR. CANNATA:  Approximately the 1,800 megawatt load level.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Now, under your analysis of the load levels, even under a 90/10 analysis, that would be approximately 2017?

MR. COHEN:  I think in the bench analysis --
MR. DILWORTH:  I'm referring to Figure 4.
MR. COHEN:  -- for 90/10 we have 2013.

MR. DILWORTH:  Well, I'm looking at Figure 4, which is on page 17 of the bench analysis.  
MR. COHEN:  I -- I think there's a slight discrepancy and I think it might have been because of the way the modeling was done.  It was done in blocks.  So I think you're correct, that under -- under Figure 4, it's at 2017.  I'm not quite sure what the discrepancy was but it might have been because there was -- when the modeling was done, it was done in blocks, but I'm not positive about that.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  So it would be 2017 under the 90/10 analysis but under 50/50, it would be sometime well after 2020, correct?

MR. CANNATA:  Correct.

MR. COHEN:  Yes.

MR. CANNATA:  And to Chuck's point about the blocks in the analysis, we just had those discrete blocks and when we saw the need appear, that's the date that went there.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Now, as I understand the bench analysis, a rebuild of the 166/167 lines could enhance reliability in the Portland area, correct?
MR. CANNATA:  That was an alternative, yes.

MR. DILWORTH:  And under footnote 20, which is on page 35 of your bench analysis, you indicate that we might be able to reverse the order of construction of the 3020 line and the 166/167 rebuilds, correct?
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. DILWORTH:  Now, the 166/167 rebuilds under the 50/50 load are not needed until 2028, and under 90/10, not until 2021, correct?
MR. COHEN:  I think that's assuming that the -- the line from Surowiec to Raven's Farm gets built.
MR. DILWORTH:  That's right.

MR. COHEN:  That's under those -- that presumption that those dates --
MR. DILWORTH:  Now assume --
MR. COHEN:  -- would be correct.

MR. DILWORTH:  Understood.  Now let's reverse it if we can effect reverse and we build a rebuilt 166/167 first.

MR. COHEN:  Yes.

MR. DILWORTH:  And, of course, the rebuild of 166 and 167 would be in the existing right-of-way, correct?
MR. COHEN:  Yes.

MR. DILWORTH:  So would have minimal impact on the abutters?
MR. COHEN:  That's -- that's right.

MR. DILWORTH:  Is it fair to say then if we do construct the 166/167 first, that the 3020 line could be built sometime after 2021?

MR. CANNATA:  I don't think we could make that statement.  That's why this reversal appears as a footnote.  We were not comfortable in going that far.  Now, it would have to be studied, and that -- that reversal has not been analyzed.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  But it could be postponed?

MR. CANNATA:  It might be, depending upon, you know, what problems kick up.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Now, there's been some discussion about the connection between Surowiec and the 386 line from Wyman to South Gorham as being just a tap, am I correct?

MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.  That's as proposed in the bench analysis.

MR. DILWORTH:  And that could be done in the west Elm Street/Raven Farm area, or it could be done in the West Falmouth area where 386 links up with the 166/167 corridor, correct?

MR. CANNATA:  The difference in location electrically, I think, would be minimal in terms of this analysis.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  And that tap could be within the right-of-way, the existing right-of-way?

MR. CANNATA:  The reason why we chose the location we did is that potentially and ultimately there's probably going to be a substation required so you'd want to make the tap at a point adjacent to where you already either had an option or could get an option for a future substation to have an orderly development of the area.
MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  We don't know what the real estate market's going to be in West Falmouth in 10, 15, or even 20 years.  If we don't need a substation until after 2030, we certainly don't know what the real estate market is in West Falmouth at that point, do we?
MR. CANNATA:  I don't.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Now let me go back to this direct route from Surowiec to South Gorham.  As a general rule, a shorter line is a more reliable line, correct?

MR. CANNATA:  In the fourth decimal place, maybe, yes.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  But a direct line from Surowiec to South Gorham would be more reliable than a line from Surowiec to Raven Farm to South Gorham, wouldn't it?

MR. CANNATA:  In the fourth decimal point.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  Mr. des Rosiers asked you some questions about the potential costs of premature construction of equipment and, Mr. Cannata, as I understood it, you talked about the carrying costs of -- of that, correct?

MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. DILWORTH:  There are other costs associated with premature construction, aren't there?  For example, depreciation, this equipment does depreciate over time, correct?
MR. CANNATA:  That is part of the carrying cost.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.  And also there's a prospect of stranded costs, correct?

MR. CANNATA:  You mean that the cost -- the carrying costs would not be allowed into rate base and recovered from ratepayers?
MR. DILWORTH:  Well, just the fact that ratepayers have spent money to build a 345 kV line to a location in anticipation of a autotransformer that might be needed in 20 years, and if that autotransformer is not needed in 20 y6ears, you've wasted money.
MR. CANNATA:  If you've spent money to allow for that, yes.

MR. DILWORTH:  Okay.

MR. CANNATA:  But I would also point out I believe ratemaking does allow for electric plant held for future use.  Now, one could question how soon, but those type of things are allowed in the ratemaking process.

MR. DILWORTH:  May I have just a moment, Commissioner?

MS. VAFIADES:  Yes.

MR. DILWORTH:  Nothing further, Commissioner.  Thank you.

MS. VAFIADES:  Thank you.  Does IECG have some questions?
MR. LANDRY:  Just a few, thank you.  Good morning.  First question I have is has the staff performed any analysis of future RNS transmission rates in New England and what the impact on ratepayers in Maine would be from those?
MS. FINK:  We -- the -- the Commission made certain filings in FERC dockets relating to the impact of the requested ROE incentive on -- for the MPRP on Maine rates and those were provided to FERC.  And the docket number for that case, I think, is EL08, I think it's 74, but I'm not sure.  We can provide it in an ODR if you're --
MR. LANDRY:  If I can't find it, or if you recall that that's incorrect, just --

MS. FINK:  Yeah, later -- later on in the -- after a break, I could get you -- confirm the docket number.

MR. COHEN:  And I think there's also some projections of RNS rates in the ISO 2008-156 docket that were made and discussed as part of that proceeding.
MR. LANDRY:  Did -- did the staff, in forming its recommendations in this proceeding to date, consider the level of increases in RNS rates in making those recommendations?

MR. COHEN:  I think costs were certainly a factor in how we viewed the proposed project.
MR. CANNATA:  Yeah, and I would also add that those rates, I believe, were included in John Davulis' load forecasts in the price of electricity so by you taking the load forecast and using a load forecast that's based on that, that puts that into the analysis.
MR. LANDRY:  So you would agree then that considering the overall level of rates is an important factor in balancing the need for the project?
MR. COHEN:  Yes.

MR. LANDRY:  Now one of the results of the construction of the entire MPRP if it were proposed would be an increase in transfer capability, is that correct?

MR. CANNATA:  In -- in general, yes.  More specifically -- we could answer more specific.
MR. LANDRY:  But specifically, I'm looking at CMP's Exhibits 14 and 15, there was a summary that -- I'll wait for you to get those.  And I won't ask you to read the numbers into the record but -- because I don't recall if those are confidential or not.  But those show that there is an increase in transfer capability from -- at the Orrington south under -- and it's -- is that correct?
MR. CANNATA:  And we're under which exhibit, CMP 14, the MPRP, or 15, staff 2?

MR. LANDRY:  I'm referring just to the legends which show the changes in transfer capability which I believe are the same on both exhibits.  But I think they're one-line drawings, one of the MPRP and one of the staff and the -- the numbers for comparison are on both of them.  But in -- you'd agree that the chosen increase in transfer capability at -- at Orrington south, and that number's greater than the increase that's derived from the staff proposal, is that correct?
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. LANDRY:  And similarly, at the Surowiec south, there is a -- an increase in transfer capability from MPRP and a slightly -- and a -- I won't characterize -- there is a smaller one from the staff proposal, is that correct?
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. LANDRY:  And then similarly the Maine to New Hampshire transfer limit, there's an increase under MPRP and a smaller increase under staff proposal?

MR. CANNATA:  Correct.

MR. LANDRY:  Okay.  Now given that it appears to increase the transfer capability at all three of those key interfaces, would you agree that it will -- that the construction of this facility could provide additional transfer capability that could be utilized by Canadian generators?

MR. CANNATA:  The -- the filing was premised on the facilities were required for reliability.  Staff scenario took exception with that and thought that the facilities to meet reliability would be less.  And to the extent that you wanted to spend money that you didn't have to spend to meet reliability, you could provide a path for other generation which you don't need to meet reliability.
MR. LANDRY:  Yeah, I don't think that quite answered my question.  Maybe I didn't ask it well.  But my question is as MPRP is proposed, it could be used by Canadian generators to provide a path to the southern New England market with additional generation?

MR. CANNATA:  I would agree with that.

MR. LANDRY:  Has the staff done any analysis of the likelihood that the MPRP would be used by Canadian generators as compared to wind generation developed in Maine?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  No.

MR. CANNATA:  No.  But I would also note that the recent purchase of New Brunswick Power by Hydro Quebec has -- has left the fate of most of the fossil generation in New Brunswick in limbo.

MR. LANDRY:  Does the staff have any opinion about what would replace that New Brunswick generation if it were -- if it were retired?
MR. COHEN:  I don't think we're --

MR. CANNATA:  (Inaudible).
MR. COHEN:  Let me step -- I'll -- I don't think we're in any position to guess what's going to happen between New Brunswick and Hydro Quebec.

MR. LANDRY:  Fair enough.  I wasn't going there with my line, but since Mike said that, I asked a follow up.  The -- the question I would ask, though, is if the Commission concluded that the line was more likely to be used by Canadian generation than wind generation, would that be a factor that ought to be considered in the need for this line?

MR. CANNATA:  It would depend on how that use would take place.  If it was to facilitate economic transfers, that's one thing.  If it was used to facilitate transfers that increased the reliability or contributed to the reliability in New England, I'm going to give you a different answer.

MR. LANDRY:  Okay.  I'll leave it at that.  And I just had one more line regarding the western spur, which I understood from testimony yesterday that there are three large generators that would be interconnected or would be -- would receive incremental transmission interconnection from the western spur, the line that runs to Rumford as part of the MPRP, is that your recollection?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes.

MR. LANDRY:  And one of those is the Androscoggin Energy project, and one of those is the NewPage project, and the third is the --

MR. COHEN:  RPA.

MR. LANDRY:  -- Rumford Power project.  Would you -- would you agree that two of those projects, being the NewPage and Androscoggin, are co-gen, co-generation projects?
MR. BUCKLEY:  We think so.

MR. LANDRY:  Fair enough.  Assuming they are co-gen projects, have you done any analysis on the impact of the mill load in the event that those -- those particular generators were interrupted?

MR. CANNATA:  No, but I imagine today's system is what was represented in our analysis, that today's system is reliable and those type of considerations have already been taken into consideration by CMP in designing the system.

MR. LANDRY:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. VAFIADES:  Thank you.  Does ISO-New England have any questions?

MR. FERDINAND:  Yes, I have a few questions, thank you.  First, Lisa, I just wanted to clarify some testimony yesterday.  At one point you said that you had had a discussion either -- was it with you or you and Wayne Whittier with Brent Oberlin about dispatch assumptions?
MS. FINK:  Yes.
MR. FERDINAND:  Was it you alone or Wayne and --
MS. FINK:  It was me and Wayne.
MR. FERDINAND:  Talking to Brent?

MS. FINK:  Talking to Brent and Rich Kowalski.

MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.   When you brought those concerns to ISO, were you talking generally about the idea of having two generators off in a dispatch scenario or specific dispatch scenarios proposed for the MPRP?
MS. FINK:  This was really more of a Wayne's presentation.  My understanding of it was not looking at the specific dispatches but the general concept of using two generators out.  And I think attached to one of the data requests was an analysis that Wayne did about the likelihood of that occurring.  So that was sort of the level of detail.
MR. FERDINAND:  But it wasn't specific to the MPRP dispatch case as it was more just the general concept of doing two generators out as a planning standard?
REPORTER:  Bill, can you speak up into the mic, please?

MR. FERDINAND:  Yeah, okay.  Sort of in between the mics here.  I'll slide down a little bit here.

REPORTER:  Could you repeat that question, please?
MR. FERDINAND:  So your discussion was focused more on the planning standard assumption of having two generators out versus specific generators selected to be out for the MPRP, is that right?

MS. FINK:  I'm having difficulty answering the question since I was sort of not the main person raising the questions.  But, I mean, I think it -- the request was to ask ISO I'd say slightly more specific than you suggest in that I think the request was made to do the dispatches with a one generator out, but it wasn't a specific request for each dispatch.  That's my memory of it.  It was a while ago.
MR. FERDINAND:  And then I think you said the reason you didn't take it any further to the PAC or anywhere else is because of your adjudicatory role in this proceeding, is that right?

MS. FINK:  That -- that's correct.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  It wasn't -- there was nothing in the PAC process or the ISO process that prevented you taking that any further, is there?
MS. FINK:  It was the relationship of the case to the -- what would be the -- the certificate of need proceeding that was expected in the future that was the cause of my concern.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  Switching over to Mr. Cannata, yesterday you were testifying -- do you have the planning standards, the -- I think they're in your quote/unquote big book, specifically PP3, ISO planning standard PP3?

MR. CANNATA:  Could you read the tab again you want?
MR. FERDINAND:  You used the same tabs I think.  My tab's 22, ISO-New England 22.

MR. CANNATA:  And that's PP3, correct?
MR. FERDINAND:  Correct.  And when you were talking about this yesterday with the CMP attorney, you were talking about Section 4, which is on page six, it talks about transmission transfer capability.  Do you see that paragraph?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes, I do.
MR. FERDINAND:  And there's a sentence there at the bottom that says, "Therefore, design studies will assume applicable transfers and the most severe load and resource conditions that can reasonably be expected."
MR. CANNATA:  For transmission transfer studies, yes.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  And that was the point I understood you trying to make, that only applied to transfer -- transmission transfer capacities?

MR. CANNATA:  My point was that there were different requirements for a system assessment versus a transfer capability assessment.  Some -- some of the requirements are the same, but there are different requirements.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  And is it your understanding that those -- those requirements have changed in any way for either of those over time?

MR. CANNATA:  The documents, like NPCC and ISO, you know, have changed over time because there has been updates; they included the DC.  But I think as Mr. Loehr testified, and I would agree with that, the general thrust of the documents has been pretty constant since their inception.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  There is a document in the packet that CMP handed out that -- it didn't get used yesterday.  It's CMP 18.  It's entitled Reliability Standards for the New England Power Pool dated September 12th, 1980.  Can you find that document?

MR. CANNATA:  I have that.
MR. FERDINAND:  Would you agree that these are the reliability planning standards before we went to the PP3 -- the predecessors to the document we were just talking about?
MR. CANNATA:  I don't know if there were other iterations in between, but they certainly were what was in effect in 1980 --
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  -- until they were altered.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  On page four, there's a section called Area Transmission Requirements.
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.
MR. FERDINAND:  And -- it's under Section 3.  And in the middle of that paragraph there's a similar sentence.  It says, "Design studies will assume base case power flow conditions with applicable contractual transfers, the most severe load and generation conditions that can be reasonably expected to occur, and a New England economic dispatch with allowance for maintenance and forced outages."  Do you see that sentence?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes.  I already have it circled.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  And that -- so that standard there was the same in 1980 as the sentence we were talking about in the section of PP4, correct?
MR. CANNATA:  No, it's not.
MR. FERDINAND:  That's not the same?

MR. CANNATA:  No.

MR. FERDINAND:  Well, the portion that says the most severe load and generation conditions is the same?

MR. CANNATA:  Well, you can't take it out of context.  And if you recall yesterday, Mr. des Rosiers was questioning the fact that I used a maximum transfer capability in the analysis that he presented as another exhibit.
MR. FERDINAND:  Uh-huh.

MR. CANNATA:  At the time, during design, you only use contractual transfers so that if there was no power contractually contracted to from New Brunswick, you could zero on the ties.  You used an economic dispatch and then you used severe load and generation conditions along with an economic dispatch.  And what that created, that created the word -- why we had to get the reasonable.  People required you to stress the system and that's how the word reasonably stressed got into future revisions of the criteria.  It was because this was, I think, a lighter -- a lighter-weight requirement.
MR. FERDINAND:  So you think parts of that sentence are heavier weight than others?
MR. CANNATA:  No, the total requirement for the design studies, as we read here in this paragraph, is a less stringent design than PP3 is today.
MR. FERDINAND:  Despite the language that -- it says the most severe load and generation conditions that can be reasonably expected to occur?

MR. CANNATA:  Because you don't have transfers.  I mean, you only have contractual transfers.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  Well --

MR. CANNATA:  And you only have an economic dispatch in the rest of New England.
MR. FERDINAND:  All right.  Go on with the next question.
MS. FINK:  Could I add something?  Just in practice it seems like because the -- the base cases used to use 50/50 and now use 90/10, that, at least in practice -- and it's not clear about when the change was made from one generator dispatch to two, but there does seem to be a change over time in the -- in some of the assumptions that were used.

MR. CANNATA:  And how that was interpreted in the industry at the time is what I pointed you yesterday when I pointed out that studies were not done at the peak load hour, and that's how that was interpreted.  Reasonable load that can be expected to occur was a 95 percent load level.  Now I understand the criteria has been redefined to say must be at the peak load level today.  But at that time, reasonable loads meant 95 percent of peak, and that was a 50/50 peak.
MR. FERDINAND:  So you're saying they're similar terms but interpreted differently, is that right?

MR. CANNATA:  That's how they were interpreted at this time.
MR. FERDINAND:  With regard to the transfers between Maine and New Brunswick, going from Maine to New Brunswick, south to north, do you agree that the firm transfer capability is 300 megawatts?

MR. CANNATA:  Firm transfer capability means to me is that I can suffer a contingency and still perform the requirements, just as firm load would be.  I have a load, I can take a contingency on the system, and I still can serve that obligation.  The south-to-north transfer of 300 megawatts, my understanding is has to be backed down upon the contingency.
MR. FERDINAND:  The first contingency or the second?

MR. CANNATA:  First.  So, therefore, my answer is not firm.
MR. FERDINAND:  The -- and do you recall when you were having a discussion in this -- in the technical conferences on this case, you were questioning Mr. Oberlin about the firm -- the transfer limits that were being used or the transfer assumptions that were being used.  And I'm reading from your testimony, or the transcript of that day --
MR. CANNATA:  And could you -- do I need it as a reference or --
MR. FERDINAND:  I can read it and give it to you if you want to do it at the same time.

MR. CANNATA:  I'm sure I have it here, but go ahead.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  You were asking Mr. Conant, I think, in this case actually, "In another spot your testimony has stated that the studies should be done at their firm transfer capability for the interface limit.  In this particular case, the minus 300 is the firm transfer capability for New England-to-New Brunswick flows."  Do you want to see it?

MR. CANNATA:  I'd like to read the context just because -- could you give me the date and I'll just --
MR. FERDINAND:  I'll check the date on this.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  I believe it's December 16, 2009, Mr. Cannata.

MR. CANNATA:  Just I don't know how far plus or minus to go.  And the page was?
MR. FERDINAND:  I have page ten.
MR. CANNATA:  You said December 17th?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  December 16th.

MR. CANNATA:  Sixteenth, I'm sorry.
MR. FERDINAND:  It's on line 12 --

MR. CANNATA:  Yeah.
MR. FERDINAND:  -- of page ten.

MR. CANNATA:  Yes, and if you read the paragraph above it, what I'm doing is repeating what his testimony said.
MR. FERDINAND:  So in this case, you're not -- you still contend that 300 is not the firm transfer capability from south to north?

MR. CANNATA:  Well, I was questioning it and I started with his testimony.  He called it the firm transfer capability and that's -- that's what started the dialogue, I believe.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  But the same issue going from New Brunswick to Maine, I think you just told me that the firm transfer capability is the -- the contractual or the reserved amount on the line, is that right?
MR. CANNATA:  No.  What I said was that a firm transfer capability is such that you can survive a system contingency and still fulfill that obligation.
MR. FERDINAND:  The obligation being?

MR. CANNATA:  The transfer in this case.  So that, you know, if you only had a single line to New Brunswick, as we had prior to December 2007, the firm transfer capability would be zero because you can't survive a contingency and fulfill the obligation to transfer.
MR. FERDINAND:  Do you recall what the subscription amount on the line going from --
MR. CANNATA:  We discussed that yesterday, and I believe it was -- Jared indicated that it was a thousand megawatts.
MR. FERDINAND:  And you agree with that?
MR. CANNATA:  What the subscription is, yes.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  And do you recall what the actual reservations are?
MR. CANNATA:  I do not know.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  Well, if I told you they were a thousand or close to a thousand, would you accept that for discussions purposes?

MR. CANNATA:  I'll accept that.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  The firm -- if -- if we have reservations for a thousand or close to a thousand megawatts on that north-to-south direction on that tie line, are we not obligated to provide a system that recognizes that requirement?
MR. CANNATA:  I don't know where the thousand is going.
MR. FERDINAND:  Going in New England?

MR. CANNATA:  Right.
MR. FERDINAND:  And so in some places it matters where it's headed?
MR. CANNATA:  Well, I believe certain individuals have the firm transmission subscription and you --
MR. FERDINAND:  If that -- if that reservation's paid for and scheduled on OASIS, do we have to honor that reservation?
MR. CANNATA:  On an all-in system?  Yes.
MR. FERDINAND:  And any contingencies?

MR. CANNATA:  Well, I think when you get into contingencies, you're back to the process that Chuck was talking about that, you know, customers cannot be expected to be served for N-1-1 conditions.  But an all-in system, I would agree.  If they have subscription rights on that, they should be able to get the power into the system.
MR. FERDINAND:  So the planning standards that say firm transfer capability are not the -- we don't need to honor those in the contingent situations is what you're saying?
MR. CANNATA:  I don't know where the planning standards say firm transfer capability.
MR. FERDINAND:  Under -- if -- if you look at PP3 -- do you still have that in front of you?

MR. CANNATA:  I have everything in front of me.
MR. FERDINAND:  And in that same paragraph on page six it says -- under four in the second paragraph it says firm transmission transfer capabilities --
MR. CANNATA:  Shall be determined --
MR. FERDINAND:  -- shall be determined for normal and emergency transfer conditions.  So --
MR. CANNATA:  Right.  And what that says is you go to Section 4.2 and you have to be able to survive those contingencies, and that's what I was talking about, that to be a firm transmission transfer capability, you have to have -- be able to survive that permanent three-phase fault on any generator transmission circuit, etc.
MR. FERDINAND:  You're saying the normal firm transfer reservations are not used for either contingent case?
MR. CANNATA:  What I'm saying is that if I have a reservation on the -- on the New Brunswick to Maine line and I cannot survive a permanent three-phase fault, that I may have a reservation but I don't have firm transmission transfer capability.
MR. FERDINAND:  So you're looking at the firm transfer capability of the line rather than what's reserved on the line?

MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.  I believe there's a difference and I believe the criteria defines it differently.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  Switch gears to the -- the assumptions that the staff used for their scenarios for the analysis that they wanted to have -- to have done on the system changed a number of the base case assumptions, and I wanted to go through them with you to make sure I have them correct.  The first one that I was focusing on is that 50/50 peak load forecast as opposed to the 90/10 forecast.
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. COHEN:  I think that's actually incorrect.

MR. CANNATA:  Well --

MR. COHEN:  I think what we had them model was discrete load levels.
MR. CANNATA:  Discrete load levels.
MR. COHEN:  And we did not get into -- during that iterative process, we did not get into the debate as to 50/50 versus 90/10.  So that was not an assumption that was changed during the sensitivity analysis.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  And I think -- well, I think yesterday on the peak, when you were discussing it, you were discussing it's more appropriate to use the 50/50 peak load forecast in this case, is that right, Mike?

MR. CANNATA:  What I said yesterday was that historically, that's how the criteria was designed ar4ound was the 50/50 peak forecast.  And I believe I pointed out to Section 5 or 6, the extreme condition assessment.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  And then you would add stresses on top of the 50/50 so you would start with the 50/50 peak load forecast.  Would that be for ten years or some other number of years?

MR. CANNATA:  It depends on what year of the study you're doing.
MR. FERDINAND:  For a study like this, a reliability.
MR. CANNATA:  If you're doing a ten-year study, then it'd be for ten years, yes.
MR. FERDINAND:  And 50/50 would be used for ten years.  The -- we talked about this before, only one plant of generation unit out of service in the entire state of Maine or the control area within the state of Maine, I should say, that's the assumption you were modeling, is that right?
MR. CANNATA:  We modeled an assumption where there was an entire generating station out of service that has multiple units.
MR. FERDINAND:  How many units?

MR. CANNATA:  Well, we get back to the argument that the combined--cycle units --
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.

MR. CANNATA:  -- MIS --
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  So one of the units could be a combined-cycle unit that has multiple generators.  It would be a -- so looking at a plant, it would be one generation station on a plant?
MR. CANNATA:  Right.  And, you know, we could go back and go through the criterias where they talk about two generating stations being extreme --
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  -- extreme event, etc.  And just to point out as we go through this that the -- that the staff tried to keep things as consistent as possible.  What the thrust was was to just change some of the stress factors and see what they had at the results, rather than change everything and open up the entire assumption table to debate.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  And what I'm going through is what you think is the appropriate stress factors that we were talking about to make it more reasonable is a 50/50 peak load for ten years, one plant out of service for the state --
MR. COHEN:  I'm going to go back and just correct you again in the load forecast because I don't think -- the staff has not taken a position on that issue.  I know Mr. Cannata has a position; the staff has not taken a position.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.

MR. COHEN:  Both scenarios in terms of the forecasted were presented in the bench analysis, and the scenario sensitivity analysis was done at discrete load levels, without sort of debating the issue of 50/50, 90/10.

MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.

MR. COHEN:  So I want to correct you there.
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  Thanks, Chuck.  The other factor that was adjusted in the analysis was the hydro power output using its historical average, is that correct?

MR. CANNATA:  Yes.  But I don't think we could get what we asked for because of -- of recordkeeping.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  There wasn't enough history basically.
MR. CANNATA:  There was, but somebody threw it out.
MR. FERDINAND:  And the paper mills or the larger mills at their historical average as well?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes.
MR. FERDINAND:  And then the transfers from New Brunswick to Maine at 716 megawatts or zero for the first contingency and then zero megawatts for the second contingency, is that correct?

MR. CANNATA:  Did you just say zero twice?
MR. FERDINAND:  For the second contingency.  It's 716 or zero for the first contingency and then zero for the second contingency.
MR. CANNATA:  Yes, and that gets back our discussion on firm transfer capability -- 
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  -- that if you're going to count that to meet the reliability needs of New England, it's my position that that should be a firm transfer capability and in the design study.
MR. FERDINAND:  All right.  Well, if you take those -- if you take all those adjustments together, average mills, average hydro, one plant out of service, either using the 50/50 load or some other load that we're talking about that's lower than the expected 90/10 load, and the transfers at those levels, how does -- how does that meet the criteria that we've talked about with NERC and NPCC and ISO as being critical or stressed or even reasonably stressed, when everything is taken down to their averages and typical conditions at a peak load?

MR. CANNATA:  Because all the other generation is on.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  How is that stressing the system?

MR. CANNATA:  Excuse me one second.  The term is reasonable stress for the conditions to be studied.

MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  And you have to go into each one of those dispatches.  When ISO and CMP stress a local load area, they took two generating stations out in a very small load pocket in Maine, a 300-load pocket, and they took 600 megawatts of generation off in the Bangor area.
MR. FERDINAND:  Uh-huh.

MR. CANNATA:  That was not reasonable stress in our (inaudible).  So we went through and we used one generator --
MR. FERDINAND:  Okay.  So how --

MR. CANNATA:  -- as more reasonable.
MR. FERDINAND:  Yeah, but one generator for the entire state, how does that -- how does that stress the system with all the other things at their average amounts?
MR. CANNATA:  No, it wasn't one generator for the entire state.  It was one generator for a small load pocket which is only a small portion of the state.  In dispatches D1 through D3.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  So you're saying that you had other generators off in those scenarios in the state?
MR. CANNATA:  What we did was one generator in a small load area.  In the Bangor Hydro area load, it's a 300-megawatt load, and we took 500 megawatts of generation off versus 700 megawatts that the -- CMP did.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  And anything else?

MR. CANNATA:  But that -- that's -- that was a biased dispatch.  That dispatch, that generator out in that load area, was the stress.  And it's the same concept --
MR. FERDINAND:  The stress for that area or the stress for the system?
MR. CANNATA:  Stress for that area, and that's the same concept that CMP and ISO used in their analysis.
MR. FERDINAND:  But aren't you supposed to be looking at the stress on the system and not just one load area?
MR. CANNATA:  The system is defined as the area under study.  If you're indicating that we should be stressing Connecticut while we're doing this, I would go to the point that the dispatch -- some of the dispatches that Central Maine used in their analysis had 2,300 megawatts off in Maine, which is the total generation out expected over a summer peak in the entire region.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  But --

MR. CANNATA:  And that's what they called reasonable.  We felt that was unreasonable.
MR. FERDINAND:  I heard that.  I'm trying to understand why you think what -- these assumptions that you've laid out are reasonable, not that the others are unreasonable because the criteria requires stressing the system, and in this case the study area was the entire CMP service territory.  And so if we only have one generator out and all these averages -- outputs and average loads, how is that stressing the system?
MR. COHEN:  Well, let me -- could I jump in?
MR. CANNATA:  Go ahead, Chuck.

MR. COHEN:  I think, Bill, if you look at the dispatch scenarios for -- that were done as part of the analysis and I think it's -- it was done based on a regional -- a regional area basis.  So -- so if you look at -- you know, I'm just turning to Figure 5 on page 18 of the bench analysis, what they did was it was looked at southern Maine, central Maine, the Bangor area, D4 which is essentially a southern Maine area, D5 which wasn't used, and then D6 which was not used also.  So it was a regional area.  They didn't say -- the dispatches were not saying, okay, let's take one off in the Portland area, and then let's take Bucksport off.  Let's take Westbrook off and let's take Bucksport off.  Those weren't the dispatches that were presented.
MR. CANNATA:  And just to point out, these are the CMP dispatches here we're talking about.
MR. FERDINAND:  Yes, right.

MR. COHEN:  So -- so CMP did not follow your basic -- the criteria that you're talking about, Bill, in sort of setting these dispatches up.
MR. FERDINAND:  Well, each of these dispatches that you just talked about were two generators out in the system that we're testing, is that correct?
MR. COHEN:  Two generators out in a load pocket, not the system.  They didn't look at the whole system in selecting the two generators out.  They didn't say, okay, we're going to take one in Portland and one in Bangor.  They said we're going to take two off in Portland.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. COHEN:  It's very different.
MR. FERDINAND:  Are there others that are off as well in other places that you're assuming?

MR. COHEN:  I would say the other ones that are off in those scenarios would be -- they're minor.  I think there was some tinkering with some wind and some hydro, but generally it was based on -- as it's stated in Figure 5, southern Maine, central Maine, and Bangor area.
MR. FERDINAND:  And what --

MR. CANNATA:  And you also had -- there was also some embedded generation that may or may not have been running in the CM dispatch that was carried through.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  And --
MR. FERDINAND:  But that's carried through the whole --
MR. CANNATA:  Right.

MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  And you have to consider how much generation can you take off.  You're at a peak load hour that you expect to experience, if you (inaudible) probabilities, over a ten-year period --
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MR. CANNATA:  -- and you're right at the peak hour and -- and all your generation is geared to run at that time, you have day-ahead calling, I mean, your generation is geared to run for the peak.  That's why you don't take maintenance out.  And what New England has had over the summer peak is an average of 2,100 megawatts out of service in -- over the summer peak hour across all New England and, in some cases, CMP represented more than that down in Maine.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  I understood -- I understood your point on that.
MS. FINK:  I wanted to add something about why it was reasonable to -- in addition to Chuck and Mike's point about the proportion of generation off to the proportion of load, we also looked at the term in 5-3, which said -- defined reasonable stress as the --having a reasonable -- I'm paraphrasing -- reasonable probability of occurring.  And if you look at the CMP dispatches, when we -- I forget which data request it is -- the data response that shows that -- that the most severe dispatches for CMP had not occurred during the time period studied.  So the -- the ones that we -- that we used we believed were ones that had a reasonable probability of occurrence but weren't the worst case approach that it appeared to us was more where CMP's dispatches were going.
MR. FERDINAND:  I heard that people are using a probability analysis to determine what they think a reasonable dispatch scenario is.  And the probability of dispatches are not in the criteria, are they?

MR. CANNATA:  New England has a deterministic criteria, and there is actually no guidance whatsoever in terms of dispatch in the New England criteria.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right, because --

MR. COHEN:  Could I jump in?  And maybe I'll disagree with my expert here, but I don't know how you can interpret the word reasonable without getting into some type of probability analysis.  So, yes, the contingency analysis is deterministic in that those are specifically set out.  But then in determining the assumptions, I think by including the word reasonable, you necessarily have to look at probabilities.  I mean, that's how you determine something's reasonable or not.
MR. FERDINAND:  But what Mike was saying about the dispatch in local areas versus anywhere in the system, are you okay with the -- having two generators off if they're not in the -- in one area?
MR. BUCKLEY:  Let me remind you of something first that's relevant on that question in addition to what Chuck just said.  The ground rules going into the additional staff analysis were all of this takes a lot of time and a lot of money, and we need to get this case decided.  So in talking about this with CMP, we started with trying to minimize the amount of additional runs that we were going to do.  And what we wanted to do was to make more reasonable CMP's assumptions that we thought were unreasonable.  So we did what Chuck said.  We kept in the local area but we just changed it a little.  I mean, if CMP or ISO wanted to suggest, well, let's try a plant out in Portland and another plant out in Bangor and see what happens, one, we'd probably say, well, that's okay but let's see what happens in the MPRP if you do that, and, two, that's fine.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  I was just trying to understand whether the concern was more the local -- location of the outage versus the number of plants being out.

MR. CANNATA:  Or the combination of both.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  They were getting -- they were getting -- yeah, they were getting mixed up and I was trying to figure is it having two generators out or the location of them that's the --
MR. BUCKLEY:  I think even a lawyer could figure out that there's probably going to be more needs, transmission needs showed if the two generators are in one area than whether they're spread out 150 miles apart.
MR. FERDINAND:  Well, at least this lawyer can't do load flow analysis like that.  Lastly, for Mike, yesterday when we were talking about combined-cycle units, in Westbrook specifically I think, and you were saying that there's two fired units and one steam unit at that and there are three taps into the system and they should be able to operate independently but they don't because they are bid together as one unit as opposed to being bid as two units or separate units, and I think at one point you said, well, ISO should find out -- should consider them two units and find a way to have them run be run as two units economically, either bid in the system or contractually.  Was that -- was I understanding that?
MR. CANNATA:  That's generally the direction we went --
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  So --
MR. CANNATA:  -- see where you go.
MR. FERDINAND:  Are -- I just want to clarify.  Are you saying that the transmission planners at ISO should consider those units two units and use a tool for contractual compensation that allows them to operate independently or is it something -- an NTA or something else like that?
MR. CANNATA:  What I was saying, and I might not have said it articulately enough, is that the ISO had -- the ISO in total has a responsibility to have a reliable power system and to -- and to look at the economics of the things that it does.  If, in fact, a market could be developed that could capture those resources and prevent -- and do it for a reasonable amount of money and prevent spending X millions of dollars on a transmission line, those are the type of things that I think ISO ought to be bringing to the table and saying, you know, we can make our power system more efficient by developing this market and then finding a mechanism that compensates the people that bring the resource to the market and the savings to customers.  That's what I was referring to.
MR. FERDINAND:  So you're looking at ISO as the entire organization as opposed to the transmission planners in this case.  Until that happens, though, the transmission planners need to continue to look at the units as they're bid, is that correct?
MR. CANNATA:  I believe if ISO is not doing that, that they're not following their charter.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.

MS. FINK:  I'd just add, my understanding is that most of the units we were talking about were bid separately.  I guess I'm hearing that that's not --
MR. FERDINAND:  Well, I think Chuck pointed out --
MS. FINK:  I think some of them --

MR. COHEN:  -- some were --

MS. FINK:  -- some were and some weren't, I think that's right.

MR. FERDINAND:  Well, and you recall Pete Brandien's testimony around that specifically?

MS. FINK:  I do recall Pete's -- Pete's testimony but I was -- I guess I was responding to the statement that -- about the units being dispatched as they were bid.
MR. FERDINAND:  That's the basic point; they need to be dispatched as they're bid.  They can't be -- the bids can't be unbundled and dispatched another way.  Is that correct?
MS. FINK:  Well, I think the -- I think there's a -- some of the testimony in this case indicates that the dispatches that ISO used were not consistent with the way the units were bid and so that was what I was responding to.
MR. COHEN:  And I think in particular the Westbrook and the Bucksport plan is that, as some of the data responses and evidence in the case have shown, can be dispatched separately.
MR. FERDINAND:  If they're bid separately?

MR. COHEN:  That's the way they're dispatched now.  I mean, I think that's what the history was that they were dispatched at levels lower than the full output.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  But I guess I'm just getting at the basic point is that the ISO is obligated to plan for things the way they're bid not come up with --
MR. COHEN:  And I'm saying that's -- I'm assuming that's the way they're bid then if they're dispatched that way.
MR. FERDINAND:  Right.  Thanks.  That's all I have.

MS. VAFIADES:  Re-cross from CMP?

MR. COHEN:  Just --

MS. VAFIADES:  Yes?

MR. COHEN:  Just a -- one or two follow up sort of clarification things that came out from the cross yesterday.
MS. VAFIADES:  Sure.  Go ahead.

MR. COHEN:  And one just -- I just want to -- on that table, which was CMP Exhibit 61, I just want to clarify that those dispatches and scenarios, I think Jared said, were demonstrative.  So there's really no evidence in the record as to what these things are.  We haven't had a chance to analyze these.  The dispatches are different than what was used in the case, so I just wanted to -- to point that out.  It also doesn't sort of -- the issue, I think, and Mike could clarify, is sort of -- discuss sort of how New Brunswick, if additional capacity was needed, could -- how power could be imported into those areas.  And also the other thing was -- go ahead, Mike.

MS. VAFIADES:  No, wait, hold on just a second.  Did CMP introduce this as an exhibit in the case or was it just for discussion purposes?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Well, I would seek to introduce it into the case.
MS. VAFIADES:  But as it -- for a factual exhibit representing what's here or were you doing it just to have --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  (Inaudible) --
MS. VAFIADES:  -- hold on -- present some hypotheticals for discussion?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  I would offer it as a -- illustrative of -- and it is simple math, but it represents that the impact of having two generators out under the D4 dispatch, what the needs of the Maine system would be in terms of imports from New Hampshire.  So it -- the first line is a summary of the evidence that is presented on -- in the Conant/Conroy rebuttal.  The rest is a table that reflects the math if you vary the unit, what that does to the megawatts that would need to be imported.  So that is just a mathematical calculation.  There's no load flow modeling presented.  So we would offer it as evidence in that regard -- or that respect.
MS. VAFIADES:  So does the staff have an objection to this exhibit?
MR. COHEN:  Well, I guess I would turn to Mike to first maybe clarify whether that -- what's been represented as simple math is actually simple math so --
MS. VAFIADES:  Well, wait a minute.  Do you have an -- do you have a -- we might be able to figure out a way to resolve this but do you have an objection to the exhibit coming into the record and for what reason?

MR. COHEN:  I was noting it -- I mean, based on how I interpreted it was dispatches that had not been presented in the case and it was an analysis that had not been presented in the case.  So under that point, and the way Jared had said that he was using it as a demonstrative aid and for illustrative purposes, I assumed he wasn't introducing it in the case because when somebody does that --
MS. VAFIADES:  No, I know, but he now just said he wants to --

MR. COHEN:  Right.

MS. VAFIADES:  -- and that's what I'm asking.

MR. COHEN:  And he said his basis was because it was a simple math thing from things that were in the case, and I can't say -- and that's why I was going to ask Mike to say is this a simple math thing.  I don't know that.

MR. CANNATA:  I think Jared represented that there was no load flow analysis involved?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  That's correct.  The only load flow analysis is drawn -- the first line in the table, dispatch D4, I-2.  The note gives a citation for where the results are and we went through that.  That is a load flow.  The rest of the information presented, and we can walk through the simple math, if you -- the third line down where the yellow box is under Westbrook number one through three, that goes from zero.  But then in the next line over, Yarmouth one, two, three now goes from zero to 225.  If you take 758 and you subtract 225, you get 533.  And that's just simply to represent the addition of additional megawatts generating in Maine produces a smaller need for imports under this load flow case -- the baseline load flow case set in the first line.  And you can do the math.  Everything else is just -- whatever is changed, the right-hand column number is adjusted based -- compared to the top line.
MR. CANNATA:  Right, and where I'm having my problem is that the table represents that it represents staff scenario two upgrades, and then you've put a CMP dispatch into it, or a dispatch other than what staff used in theirs.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  That's correct.  We tested that in the rebuttal case and presented the report in the full study.
MR. CANNATA:  Right.  So all this says to me is that if you go with staff's upgrades, you can't take two generators out of service which we didn't use in our -- to develop our upgrades in the first place.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  I would submit, Commissioner, that that's argument that's -- goes to the weight and can be set forth by staff.  That doesn't go to the admissibility of the exhibit.

MS. VAFIADES:  Anything else --

MR. COHEN:  Well --

MS. VAFIADES:  -- Mr. Buckley?

MR. BUCKLEY:  I don't think generally we object to evidence coming in, but it is important for us to understand the simple math if it is simple math just so we can assess the credibility when we make a recommendation to you.  And I --
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  So who -- who -- oh, I'm sorry, go ahead.

MR. BUCKLEY:  Sorry.  And I think CMP's done that now.

MS. VAFIADES:  So are you satisfied with their explanation?
MR. COHEN:  Let me just --

MR. BUCKLEY:  Assuming the D4 -- that line D4, I-2, that's all in Rick Conant's testimony?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Correct.

MR. COHEN:  Let me just ask a question.  I'm trying to understand this because we go to, say, Bucksport G4 off with Wyman 4 off, and that's not a combination I'm seeing anywhere.  So -- but I -- maybe I'm not understanding the math.
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Jared, can I ask this question?  Because I think I understand it but I just want to confirm that all -- each one of the numbers in the top row labeled dispatch D4, I-2, each one of those numbers is contained in Rick Conant's --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Correct.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  -- most recent testimony?  And then -- and then going down, in order to derive the number in the New Hampshire to Maine interface column is simply the difference between the amounts of generation in each of the columns?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Correct.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Okay.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And to answer Chuck's question on Bucksport, if you're comparing the line where Bucksport G4 is zero in the first box, Wyman hydro area generation, if you compare that line to the base line up at the top, you will see that Westbrook 1 through 3 is added back in, 545, and Yarmouth 1 through 3 is added back in, 225, but now Bucksport G4 goes from 190 to zero.  And if you sum those and compare that to the -- the top line, 758, you will see in that instance the import needed would only be 178.  It is not in red because that is less than the import limit for line out condition under -- from New Hampshire under the staff scenario.
MS. VAFIADES:  Ms. Huntington, do you understand the table?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  I understand the math.  I guess I would -- I would not be able to indicate whether the math is -- is a legitimate way to represent the issues is --
MS. VAFIADES:  All right.  Who prepared the table, please?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Mr. Conant.

MS. VAFIADES:  Does the staff want to question Mr. Conant by phone or in some other way?  Because if you do, we can have you do that.
MR. CANNATA:  Based on the representation given, I'd accept it as a simple math exercise.  I understand what they did.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  So then your only concern would be the weight of whether -- so you'd be able to -- I'm -- the only thing I'm concerned about is when you deal with -- when you have the Hearing Examiner's report, if this is important, that you understand it sufficiently so you can comment on it and that would go to the weight and the relevance of it.
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yeah.  We understand it.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  So you don't need to speak to -- ask Mr. Conant questions?  Okay, thank you very much.  So CMP's Exhibit 61 is admitted.  Were there anyone else who had any objections to it?
MR. BRYANT:  I was going to object.

MS. VAFIADES:  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.

MR. BRYANT:  But I am now comfortable based on what the staff has said.

MS. VAFIADES:  All right.  Anyone else?  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Cohen, was there anything else you wanted to --

MR. COHEN:  Yeah, and I thought -- this morning Mike gave me an explanation of -- in CMP 14 and 15, the transfer limits, lines in and line out, and explained those -- he explained those numbers to me and how they're calculated and I thought it would be helpful if that was -- information was put into the record, just to explain what -- the limits that are represented on 14 and 15, how they're calculated, Mike.

MR. CANNATA:  Yes.  And it's just simply that the so-called all lines in transfer limit is calculated by taking the first contingency and ensuring that the system that's left can handle the amount of megawatts that's stated.  And when you move down to the line out transfer limit, that's actually two lines out.  You have a line out, and you're able to withstand the next line out, and that's the number that you get.  So when they say that the Maine/New Hampshire from -- Maine/New Hampshire transfer limit is 275 megawatts, that's the first 345 line out, the second 345 line out, and that's the capability of the remaining two 115 lines, just as the all-in transfer limit is the capability of one 345 and two 115 lines.
MS. VAFIADES:  Does CMP agree with that?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Well, I can ask Mr. Cannata some questions on that point.

MS. VAFIADES:  All right.  When we get there, we'll do that.  Anything else, Mr. Cohen?

MR. COHEN:  That's it.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay, re-cross, please.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Let's start with your point on transfer limits, Mike -- Mr. Cannata, excuse me.  Am I correct that -- well, first, there was some confusion.  In questioning of the IECG, there was a suggestion that the staff scenario two increases the transfer limit at the Maine to New Hampshire.  And, in fact, as reflected in the analysis performed by Mr. Conant and set forth in Exhibits 14 and 15, there is a slight degradation in the transfer limit, correct?  From existing?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes, from existing, yes, you're correct.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Now with respect to what you just described of how the limits are achieved and that the line out transfer limit under -- existing line out transfer limit, and let's use New Hampshire to Maine, is 275 megawatts and under staff scenario that would remain the same.  Am I correct -- and you described that line out transfer as the situation when there's an N-1-1 event, is that what your testimony was?
MR. CANNATA:  Correct.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  But am I correct that from the operators' point of view, that after the first contingency happens, they must operate the system to satisfy the line out limit such that they're operating it to the N-1-1 limit even before that second contingency takes place?
MR. CANNATA:  And that was just my point.  That's what I was trying to clarify.  But yes.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Am I correct with that?

MR. CANNATA:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Okay.  So if a line goes out -- and in the Conant and Conroy testimony it identifies what line it is that triggers that line out condition and it's a loss of one of the 345 lines -- once that first contingency happens, the operators at ISO-New England and CMP must operate the system to that 275 megawatt import limitation?

MR. CANNATA:  With the assumption that the next line will fail.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  But --

MR. CANNATA:  Yeah.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  -- that's how they have to operate it?

MR. CANNATA:  That's how they have to operate.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Until such time as that first contingency is eliminated?
MR. CANNATA:  And then they can go back to the previous limit, yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  There was questions about -- or we had some discussion of how the Westbrook unit bid in and that they bid in as multiple assets.  Is -- are any of the staff aware of Westbrook bidding in to operate in single-cycle mode, as opposed to bidding in as an asset that is one -- one gas turbine and part of the steam generator?

MR. COHEN:  I think the -- what we were aware of was the information that was presented in that exhibit, which indicated that Westbrook could operate at less than full capacity and was dispatched that way.  I'm not aware of how they actually bid in, what they bid in.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And that could be significant, if they don't bid in combined -- as a single cycle, correct?

MR. CANNATA:  Yes, but that's just the point.  The one-line diagram shows they went to the physical ability to be able to feed each one of those generators in and that's when it -- when I had the discussion with the ISO attorney that, you know, if one recognizes that, there may be value to customers.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  If there's some market in place or some mechanism to incent Westbrook to bid in in single-cycle mode?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes, and I believe that's an ISO obligation.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  But is the staff aware that any of the combined-cycle units in Maine actually bid into the market today, in the markets that exist today, in single-cycle mode, as opposed to bidding in in combined-cycle mode?

MS. FINK:  I don't know how -- I'm not aware of that distinction in the capacity market or the energy market.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  There was discussion about -- and I believe with Mr. Cohen -- about, in his view, that there's some aspect of a probabilistic assessment that must be determined -- or must be considered in assessing the dispatch cases.  And do you -- would you agree that in the Conant and Conroy rebuttal on page 13, there was a table providing the average number of days offline together per year for the various MPRP dispatch cases?
MR. COHEN:  Yes, and I think there was then further discovery on that as to whether those units not available, reported not available on that table, were not available because of -- that they were not running because of economic reasons or whether they were not actually available when called.  And I think those data requests will be introduced.  I think they've been identified.  And I think there's been also further discovery on how much of those unavailabilities occurred during peak time.
MR. CANNATA:  And -- and further that there was -- included in those numbers was the actual planned maintenance hours where the units were taken down to do maintenance.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  But in the case of the D1 dispatch which is the Wyman unit off -- excuse me, the (left) unit off and Yarmouth 3, on average it's 192 days a year for the last several years in which those units have been off at the same time?
MR. COHEN:  I would say that they have not been running at the same time but --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  And in the --

MR. COHEN:  Go ahead.

MR. CANNATA:  The relevance is if you take those numbers and if 189 of those hours were to do planned maintenance on one of the units are off peak --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Excuse me, hours or days?

MR. CANNATA:  Days, excuse me.  You have to look at it that you're using that and applying it to the peak hour.  And so when a unit is not running for economic reasons in the low load periods of May does not indicate that that should not be running on a peak hour.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  And in the case of the Wyman -- the D4 dispatch, you'd agree that the average is 184 days a year in which all of the Wyman units are off at the same time as the Westbrook units?  And I understand the caveats that you've just provided.  I'm looking for simply the fact.
MR. CANNATA:  The fact is that, and I would also add that in the fact that those units were off for 184 days, that the system was reliable under those conditions.  Otherwise, the operators would not have allowed them to be down.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  And that's when they call on them out of merit?

MR. CANNATA:  They may call something out of merit, yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  There was some discussion about the testing -- or the two generators out across Maine and that that wasn't presented by MPRP.  Is staff aware that as part of the analysis submitted, the sensitivity analysis submitted with the Conant and Conroy rebuttal in December that, in fact, dispatch cases -- alternative dispatch cases were presented that did test two generators out across Maine as opposed to in a load pocket?
MR. CANNATA:  Those dispatches were presented long after the bench analysis was put together, and I believe our reference was what we did in the bench analysis.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Well, has staff considered the reliability result -- the reliability violations demonstrated by those cases in which one generator in the northern Maine area was turned off and one in the southern Maine area?
MR. BUCKLEY:  What do you mean considered?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  As part of the analysis provided for the staff's support for its position with respect to the need for transmission in Maine or the support for the conclusion that staff scenario one or staff scenario two is the appropriate reliability solution?
MR. BUCKLEY:  The only analysis we've presented is the bench analysis.  And like Mike just said, this evidence came in after the bench analysis so we couldn't have considered it.  We probably would have asked you to run a similar thing with the staff scenario if -- if it came in earlier.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  There was -- I believe IECG's counsel asked a question about the impact of transfer limits and Canadian generators.  And as a starting point -- let me back up.  I believe Mr. Silkman has asked several witnesses in this case about the feasibility of the Maine system to interconnect two or 3,000 megawatts of wind.  And does staff have a view of whether the Maine system today, as it exists today, could, in fact, interconnect two or 3,000 megawatts of wind?
MR. CANNATA:  I don't -- I don't know how much generation, wind generation, that can be interconnected.  Mr. Silkman gave me a presentation that CMP presented to the PAC committee recently, and in the back of that on the projects, there had to be close to a dozen wind projects that were intended to be interconnected between like up to 2012.  So that indicates for the amount of megawatts that is indicated in the presentation CMP just gave ISO that there is room on the system to do that.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Do you understand or do you know what assumptions were made in the system interconnection studies for those wind projects as to whether MPRP was included or not included?
MR. CANNATA:  Well, for in service dates of 2011, I would go out on a limb and say that the MPRP was not included.

MR. BUCKLEY:  We don't know for all of them.  We do know for at least one that the MPRP is assumed.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Is?

MS. VAFIADES:  Is this evidence in the case or is this some side report that was presented?
MR. BUCKLEY:  It's actually evidence in the Record Hill proceeding.  It may be in this case.  I don't remember.
MS. VAFIADES:  Well, if it's going to be relied on for the discussion or answering questions, I think it should be made available to all the parties and then those questions might be able to be answered.  I mean, not that you can't ask them but --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Well, I --
MS. VAFIADES:  No, no, I understand.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  -- provided.

MS. VAFIADES:  No, no, I understand.  I'm trying to get you the information.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  That's fine with me.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  So can we make sure that everyone has a copy, OPA, IECG, and CMP of whatever you're referring to?
MR. BUCKLEY:  It's actually the petition that CMP filed in the Record Hill transmission case, I think.
MS. VAFIADES:  It's an attachment to that?

MR. BUCKLEY:  What I was talking about was the Record Hill.
MS. VAFIADES:  Petition?

MR. BUCKLEY:  You're asking about what Mike was talking about.

MR. ISAACSON:  The local system plan?  It's available on CMP's Web site.

MS. VAFIADES:  No.  I'm asking what Mr. Cannata was referring to to answer the question about whether the current system is capable of accommodating the two and 3,000 megawatts of wind.
MR. CANNATA:  And I said I can't answer that question, but that I know it can accommodate a considerable amount of wind, as was put forth in the local system plan that I was questioned on yesterday by Dr. Silkman.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Do you know how many megawatts are contemplated by the proposed projects that are included in that local system plan?
MR. CANNATA:  I only had the thing in my hands for a few minutes and I just scanned through it so I did not sum it up, but there was a multitude of projects there.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  And do you know whether those projects -- I take it -- if it -- is it staff's understanding that -- at least the Record Hill project for the system impact studies assumed that MPRP was in place, is that correct?
MR. BUCKLEY:  That's what CMP's petition shows in that case.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And go back to where I started, does staff have any assessment of how many megawatts of wind interconnection -- wind generation can be interconnected in today's CMP system without transmission upgrades?

MR. COHEN:  And I think I would say the answer is, no, we don't and I think that was one of the things we identified in the bench analysis, which was lacking in the analysis in the case was that information hasn't been presented, so we are not able to assess where the system is now, what it can accommodate, and then, you know, what's needed and at what cost.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And is the staff aware that the governor's task -- or the governor's study that -- that's been asked of ISO for the -- how much wind could be developed in the region assumes that MPRP is in place?

MR. COHEN:  Yeah, I think that's right, but that doesn't answer the question.  If we assume everything's -- MPRP's in place, we still don't know what the current system can accommodate.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  The -- with respect to the question of Canadian generators and that if we build transmission across Maine and have a path that can get generation to the southern New England market, is it fair that Canadian generation, whether it come from wind or fossil or hydro or nuclear, would not be dispatched into the New England market unless -- as part of an economic dispatch unless it effectively lowered the marginal clearing price for the market?
MR. BUCKLEY:  Is it -- is it fair, you mean do we agree with your statement?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Yes.

MR. BUCKLEY:  I think so.  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  So -- and -- and I understand Mr. Cannata gave a caveat about the potential for calling on New Brunswick generation for reliability purposes and in that instance it could be out-of-merit generation.  Is that -- was that your point, Mr. Cannata?
MR. CANNATA:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Leaving aside the need to call on New Brunswick generation for out-of-merit dispatch for reliability reasons, am I correct that the additional dispatch of additional generation from New Brunswick cannot increase the supply price in New England?

MR. COHEN:  I mean, it'd be -- they'd get the market price, so whatever the market's clearing at --
MR. BUCKLEY:  I think --
MS. VAFIADES:  Wait, one of you at a time.

MR. COHEN:  Sorry.  What the market's clearing at, they'd get the market clearing price.  There's not any discrimination between New Brunswick power and other power in the market.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  There was some discussion about Section 3020, the line from Surowiec to Raven's Farm.  That line -- there was some question about that an alternative line would go down existing right-of-way.  And am I correct that Section 3020, as proposed as part of MPRP, goes down existing right-of-way?

MR. CANNATA:  I believe it does, yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And there was a question about that there wouldn't be any impact or any worry about abutters if the alternative solution of rebuilding Section 166 and 167 was chosen as opposed to building the 345 line.  Am I correct that rebuilding 166, Section 166 and 167 as an alternative would require going down a different right-of-way for the full length than is proposed in MPRP?
MR. BUCKLEY:  Are you asking whether 166 and 167 is in a corridor than what CMP proposes?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Correct.

MR. BUCKLEY:  That's true.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And is it correct that the abutters in that portion of that right-of-way who have never been implicated by MPRP were not given notice or have not had the opportunity to participate in this case?
MR. BUCKLEY:  I don't think they have.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Is staff aware of the requirements of the Maine Department of Environmental Protection to provide notice to abutters of a transmission project -- or of a project which would include the transmission project?
MR. BUCKLEY:  Not in great detail, but that has been mentioned in this proceeding by some persons.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Then to the extent the Commission ordered or chose as an alternative the rebuilding of Section 166 and 167 as opposed to Section 3020, would that implicate potential notice to abutters who have not otherwise participated in this or the DEP process?

MR. BUCKLEY:  Well, evidently with -- with your supposition, it does require something the DEP [sic].  I don't think our rules or Maine statute require us -- or us to direct a utility to give notice to abutters, although that is something that we have either asked or directed the utility to do in -- in transmission line cases.  Faith just mentioned, when I talked about the Commission had done, that was on certificate cases, and a rebuild of a 115 probably would not require a certificate.  And -- and I remember the questioner, although I guess the transcript will -- will verify -- it wasn't that it had no impact on abutters, that it would have less impact than building a new line -- adding a new line in a corridor.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Well, has staff done any assessment or analysis of what the abutters along that path, what their reaction would be whether it be a rebuild or a new line?

MR. BUCKLEY:  No.

MR. COHEN:  No, we haven't done that survey.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And --

MR. CANNATA:  I'd just like to make a comment, Jared, if I could in that CMP presented --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Could I stop you if I wanted to?

MR. CANNATA:  You might.  CMP presented the MPRP as one solution, and what staff identified is other alternatives that could be more cost effective to customers.  And to the extent that, you know, the problems you bring up, yes, if you have to go and go a new transmission line, there's new environmental studies and that has implications.  But -- but there is an indication here that CMP did not propose viable alternatives to what it was doing.

MS. VAFIADES:  Can I just take a time test?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Just a few more.  Ten --
MS. VAFIADES:  Ten, 15 minutes?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Yeah.
MS. VAFIADES:  Anyone else -- Bangor Hydro going to have re-cross?

MS. HEALY:  Yes.

MS. VAFIADES:  Anyone else have re-cross over five minutes?  Okay.  Can we -- are you all set with going another 20 minutes or so?
REPORTER:  Uh-huh.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  Thank you.  Go ahead, Jared.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Just a last question with respect to the Surowiec to Raven's Farm line, and I may have heard this wrong, but there was a suggestion that if the 345 line was run down the existing corridor parallel to 166 and 167, that that would be a shorter line than going to Raven's Farm.  Is that the staff's understanding?

MR. COHEN:  I don't think we said that but I don't know if -- I know I didn't say it, but I don't know if --

MR. CANNATA:  As I recall the discussion, it was comparing the proposed route for Yarmouth -- through Yarmouth versus the route now to Raven's Farm, that they were relatively short and that there would be relatively difference between them from electrical performance.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And is the distance of the line material to the cost of the line?
MR. CANNATA:  It's related, yes.

MR. BUCKLEY:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  So if, in fact, going down -- moving the tap out of Yarmouth to West Falmouth or Westbrook and if that's longer, then it makes that new 345 line more costly?
MR. BUCKLEY:  Other things being equal, yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  This is some follow up to the question that Mr. Silkman did yesterday with respect to comparing the MPRP cost to the NTA costs, and it also follows up the revision that the staff made in the bench analysis with respect to the comparison of cost for the NTAs versus MPRP, which Mr. Silkman touched on.  I've put in front of the -- everyone a copy of the ODR 12-33, and this is an ODR response provided by LaCapra which -- and I believe, Ms. Huntington, you refer -- you -- you referenced an ODR yesterday about -- as the basis for the change in the statement from ten percent to 50 percent.  And is this the ODR you were referring to?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And for the calculation that you made as to do that comparison, is it correct that you were using the net present value in 2008 dollars of a hundred percent of the MPRP capital cost is approximately 812 million?  And for the benefit of everyone who may not have the best eyes, it's little note one in the Table 1 on the first page of the ODR, and it's very small print.  But is that correct?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  That's the number that's the denominator for the 50 percent calculation.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And the -- when you -- when staff changed the bench analysis to indicate that the NTAs compared -- the NTAs' capital costs were 50 percent of the MPRP capital costs, did you use then the $412 million value reflected on the NTA var 1 and NTA VAR 2 scenarios?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Okay.  Now is it correct that, from strictly a invested capital point of view, that the NTAs' capital investment ranges from 718 million to approximately a billion dollars?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And the reason the number comes out down to 412 is that subtracts the revenue that the NTA would receive, both in the forward capacity market and from net energy revenues?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Right, the idea being that ratepayers are paying for the NTAs, and thus would also receive the benefit of the -- the market value from those NTAs.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Okay.  And when doing the -- comparing the MPRP cost to that net cost of the NTA -- of the NTAs, did staff make any adjustment for any savings related to line losses or LMP savings, which was also set forth in the LaCapra study?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  No.  What we were trying to do with this -- with this response was isolate the direct cost associated with the transmission alternative and the non-transmission alternatives from the effects that those investments would have on the capacity costs and the energy costs to serve Maine load.  It was isolating --
MR. DES ROSIERS:  These are the direct costs but you've -- you have not factored in, then, to use a -- the indirect costs or the indirect savings that may result from the MPRP solution as compared to the NTA solution?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  No.  No, that's the LaCapra analysis.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  There was some discussion of line losses this morning, and I dare just ask a question.  If line losses go down in the system, so there are less losses, does that mean that the system needs to buy less electricity in total to serve load?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And if there is less losses, the system is paying less money for the energy needed to serve the load, is that correct?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Well, there -- the system is purchasing less kilowatt hours.  The effect on the price per kilowatt hour is a separate issue.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  That's fair.  You're purchasing less kilowatt hours in total, the whole system.  Now, those less kilowatt hours would move you down on the demand curve?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes, all else equal, yes.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  And if you go down the demand curve, does that make the price lower or higher for the supply price?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  It wouldn't make it higher.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Okay.  Would it -- it may or may not make it lower but it wouldn't make it higher?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Correct.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And all things -- all else being equal, if the system is paying less for losses, can Maine end up paying more for its energy?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Well, I think this is -- this is a really complicated issue and I -- and I think it's not entirely clear to me, at least, at this point which is why I asked the question of Mr. Fagan this morning, the offsetting -- the offsetting potentially being that the loss component to the LMP for all the nodes in Maine would -- would be sufficiently reduced so that -- such that the overall zonal LMP in Maine was higher.  But, again, that's the issue.  I don't have an opinion about whether it actually occurs or whether it occurs in a way that's significant enough to affect the loss savings.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  To -- excuse me, I didn't mean to interrupt.
MS. HUNTINGTON:  No, that's -- I guess that's a long answer to your question, short answer being I don't know.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And the -- there was also some questioning yesterday about the GridSolar proposal and its feasibility or -- to save costs.  Has the staff received any specific proposal from GridSolar that sets forth the location and specifications and details of the distributed solar generation that GridSolar would install on the system, such that a determination could be made that, in fact, GridSolar will save on distribution and transmission costs?

MR. CANNATA:  No and yes.

MR. BUCKLEY:  Well, are you asking in the context of this case?
MR. DES ROSIERS:  In the context of this case, yes.

MR. CANNATA:  It's no, but yes.  What we were discussing yesterday was Brian Conroy's analysis of locating a two-megawatt solar plant somewhere on the system.  And as he stated when he presented it, he just took -- you know, it could be anywhere on the system so that would be like rolling the dice and that's the cost it would be.  What we were discussing yesterday was if, in fact, somebody were to go through with a little bit more sharper pencil and look for places, that those costs would come down.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Certainly, you could site one solar, two-megawatt solar generation station, at an optimal spot.  But is your understanding that GridSolar is proposing to install only one two-megawatt installation?

MR. CANNATA:  No, we discussed yesterday that some locations may have multiple installations at one spot.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Okay.  And has there been any presentation to know where the 100 or 200 spots would be on the system?

MR. CANNATA:  I don't want to take a position and defend Rich here, but I think he said he's asked for that information many times and has not been able to get it.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Last questions.  There was also some discussion about the -- or the age of the WS Wyman facility.  That's a hydro unit?
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And the lifespan of a hydro unit is different than the life span of a oil-fired unit?
MR. BUCKLEY:  The expected life, you mean?

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Yes.

MR. CANNATA:  The expected life of a hydro unit is expected to be longer than a fossil plant.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  The -- and you gave the reference, Mr. Cannata, to a plant in New Hampshire, a fossil -- is it a fossil plant in New Hampshire that is some 50 years old?

MR. CANNATA:  Oh, I was speaking about Merrimac Unit 1.  It was built in 1960.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And what fuel does that burn?

MR. CANNATA:  Coal.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Are you aware of the New Boston 1 unit?
MR. CANNATA:  That was built in the '60s, I believe.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Are you aware that it's retired?

MR. CANNATA:  I think they both are now.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Boston -- New Boston 1 and New Boston 2?
MR. CANNATA:  That's correct.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Are you aware that Mystic 1 through 6 are now retired?
MR. CANNATA:  That's my understanding.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  Are you aware that Devon 1 through 8 are now retired?

MR. CANNATA:  That's my understanding but I would also caveat that at Mystic station, they retired the existing units and they put in a big slug of generation, combined-cycle plants.  It wasn't a re-powering, but that generation was replaced.  And I think there's something going on at K Street down in downtown Boston, also.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Do you have any sense of how likely it is next year we'll be able to re-power the Wyman units on Cousin's Island -- no, I'll withdraw that question.  Thank you.  That's all I have.

MR. BUCKLEY:  There may be some people who'd like to answer it.

MS. VAFIADES:  Bangor Hydro, any re-cross?
MS. HEALY:  No, thank you.

MS. VAFIADES:  OPA?

MR. BRYANT:  Yeah, a question.  The IECG asked some questions about whether the staff had developed estimates of future RNS costs, and I believe that Lisa answered that those estimates were contained in a FERC filing that the Commission made.  My question is did the staff develop those numbers on its own or did you get those numbers from estimates that the ISO had prepared, if you recall?

MS. FINK:  The -- my answer was specifically about the effect of the bonus ROE and that was developed from the information in the -- pretty much in the CMP filing.  I think there was one bit of information about the percentage -- I'm not sure if it was in this case or the MPC case, but about the percentage of costs that transmission makes up for the overall rate that may have been based on one of the CMP annual rate filings that they make.

MR. BRYANT:  Okay.  So I think that's a no, you didn't -- whatever numbers you did use and for whatever purpose, they weren't -- they didn't come from ISO.
MS. FINK:  That's -- yeah --
MR. BRYANT:  Okay.

MS. FINK:  -- that's a no.

MR. BRYANT:  Right.  Thanks.  Can I make an oral data request of the ISO to provide us with its projection of increases in the RNS rate for whatever length of time it might have such projections, if that's not out of line at this point?

MS. VAFIADES:  Where are we at?  (Inaudible) data request --

MR. COHEN:  I think it's --
MS. VAFIADES:  -- three or four?

MR. COHEN:  -- 54, I believe.  Hang on a second.

MS. VAFIADES:  Do you have any problem with that?

MR. COHEN:  We're up to 54.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  We have no objection to it.
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.

MR. COHEN:  I think there may have been a similar request to Paul Dumais in a -- while he was testifying, but it may be sufficiently different that it would be worth the ISO answering.
MR. DES ROSIERS:  And that's fine.  If they are the same, we'll obviously coordinate to -- there may be a cross reference but --
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.

MR. BRYANT:  Thank you.  That's it.

MR. COHEN:  Just -- Eric, maybe just to clarify.  You want a projection of the RNS rate for what period were you looking at?
MR. BRYANT:  Well, I don't know how far in the future ISO may have projected such rates so I'm asking for whatever projections they might have had.
MR. COHEN:  Okay.
MR. FERDINAND:  We'll provide whatever information we have.
MR. COHEN:  Okay.

MR. BRYANT:  Yes, thanks.  And please include the current rates so I can calculate percentages.  Thank you.
MS. VAFIADES:  Does GridSolar have any re-cross?

DR. SILKMAN:  No, we don't.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  Commissioner, if I may indulge, there was one point that I forgot just to -- it'll be very brief.

MS. VAFIADES:  Yeah, go ahead.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And I apologize.  We had marked this as CMP Exhibit 23 and it was listed on our case management memo and I didn't think we'd get there.  I only have one copy for present purposes.  We'll make more copies.  And, Mr. Cannata, I've put in front of you what we've marked as CMP 23.  And you testified here about the potential for closing some of the generation assets in New Brunswick related to the proposed transaction whereby Hydro Quebec would purchase certain assets of -- generation assets from New Brunswick Power.  And Exhibit 23 is an October 29, 2009 press release that describes the transaction.  And I draw your attention to the second page, the last full paragraph, and for the benefit of the record since folks who don't have it, "The MOU sets a closing date for substantially all the assets involved on or about March 31, 2010.  The closing date for Point Lepreau nuclear generating facility would follow on or about January 1, 2011 after the completion of the refurbishment project now under way."  Did I read that correctly?
MR. CANNATA:  That's what it says.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And when you were referring to the closing of certain generation assets in New Brunswick, were you referring, at least in part, to Point Lepreau?
MR. CANNATA:  No, I believe I qualified that to be the fossils.  At the initial press release, Hydro Quebec said they were going to take a year to determine the fate of the -- I think it's the three largest fossil plants.  I did not mention Point Lepreau.

MR. DES ROSIERS:  And it's not your understanding that Hydro Quebec has any intention of closing the Point Lepreau unit after it is -- the refurbishment is completed?
MR. CANNATA:  No.  We did that once with Seabrook.  I hope ...

MR. DES ROSIERS:  That's all I have.  Thank you.
MS. VAFIADES:  Conservation Law Foundation?

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Yes, very quickly.  Following up on our previous discussion about the adequacy of the system either today or based on the staff scenarios to accommodate new wind, there is testimony in the record from CLF's witness Henry (Tillman) to the effect that to the extent that the system is underdeveloped to accommodate new wind, there is a risk of curtailment of wind facilities.  Do you agree with that proposition generally?

MR. COHEN:  Well, I guess -- I think the key part is the assumption and I think sort of assuming that it's under built, then there may be a risk that wind can't be dispatched or won't be built, and I'll repeat what I said before.  The key element here is that we don't have the information to what extent the current system can accommodate both current and projected wind development.

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Greg, if you're using the term curtailment in the sense of -- of bidding into the energy market, I would not expect a wind project to be curtailed in that sense because it would be -- essentially be a price taker.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  But it could be told by ISO to stand down, correct, if there were over generation?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  If there were -- if there were constraints on the transmission system and other generators had rights that allowed them priority over a wind generator, I believe that could happen, although I'm not an expert in that regard.  But in terms of just the economic dispatch, they -- it wouldn't be likely to be curtailed if it was a situation where generators were -- were bidding in and there weren't contractual rights that would constrain what would run.
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  There has been testimony from the OPA's witness, Mr. Fagan, in his surrebuttal testimony to the effect that long-term contracts for the output of a wind resource are one of the most important elements required to secure wind development?  Do you agree with that statement?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Could you -- could you repeat that?

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Sure.  The statement is that it's his understanding that long-term contracts for the output of a wind resource are one of the most important elements required to secure wind development.
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Well, I don't -- I can't -- I don't have an opinion on whether they're one of the most important or, you know, where they (inaudible) in the priority.  But -- but I would agree that they are important for some generators in order for the project to get financing.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Okay.  To the extent that there is a risk of curtailment of wind facilities, would that risk have a negative impact on the willingness of this Commission to either order that long-term contracts be entered into or to initiate processes by which long-term contracts might ultimately be issued or entered into?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  It depends how the contract was structured.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Okay.  Presumably you're referring to the idea that perhaps the contract could protect the ratepayer such that if there were curtailments, that risk would be borne by the developer?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Okay.  And in the event of that provision being contained in a contract, would you agree that that might have a negative impact on developers' willingness to enter into a long-term contract to provide wind power in Maine?
MS. HUNTINGTON:  Yes.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Thank you.

MR. CASHMAN:  Could I follow that for a second?  I think your first question was if there is a capacity limitation on the line and there is a contractual arrangement for priority dispatch, can that impede a wind development.  Is that basically what you asked?
MR. CUNNINGHAM:  Yes, in essence.  To the extent there is over generation on the system, more generation that the system can accommodate --
MR. CASHMAN:  And -- go ahead.

MR. CUNNINGHAM:  I'm sorry, and to the extent that there are resources that, for any number of reasons, have priority over wind, is there a risk that wind would be curtailed.
MR. CASHMAN:  And that has happened in Maine.  That has happened in Maine.  And just to clarify that that can happen and has happened.

MS. VAFIADES:  Do the Yarmouth interveners have any re-cross?
MR. DILWORTH:  No, thank you.

MR. CASHMAN:  I thought we asked (inaudible).

MS. VAFIADES:  We did.  Hold on just a second.  IECG have any re-cross?

MR. LANDRY:  No, I think I'm fine.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  ISO, anything?

MR. FERDINAND:  No, thank you.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  Mr. -- Dr. Silkman, do you have a question?
DR. SILKMAN:  Just on what Commissioner Cashman was raising a moment ago.  He said that has happened in Maine?
MR. CASHMAN:  Yes, it has.

DR. SILKMAN:  Could he explain what has happened specifically and with references?
MR. CASHMAN:  That a generator in Maine --

MS. VAFIADES:  Swear you in, Jack?

MR. CASHMAN:  I don't want to mention names, Rich, and I think you understand why --
DR. SILKMAN:  Sure, no, I understand.
MR. CASHMAN:  -- but I was involved in a past position in state government, not this one, in a situation in central Maine where a generator had a priority dispatch arrangement with a TO on a line and a wind developer wanted to access the same line, and it was a problem.

DR. SILKMAN:  The wind developer was already up and running?
MR. CASHMAN:  It was in the process of trying to plan the wind development.
DR. SILKMAN:  So it wasn't an operational issue, it was a planning issue?
MR. CASHMAN:  It would have been an operational issue if they had built it.
DR. SILKMAN:  Do we know -- well, I don't want to --
MR. CASHMAN:  Maybe next time I steal your table downtown and this case is behind us, we can talk about this.
MS. VAFIADES:  Chuck, did you have anything -- the staff have anything else?
MR. COHEN:  No.

MS. VAFIADES:  And in terms of scheduling this, all we had scheduled for witnesses today, is that correct?

MR. COHEN:  Yes, it is.
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay, and so what are doing tomorrow then?  Are we starting with Mr. Lanzalotta or GridSolar or how are we going?

MR. COHEN:  I was going to suggest we start with Mr. Lanzalotta and then do GridSolar and --
MS. VAFIADES:  And Mr. Payne?
MR. COHEN:  -- Mr. Payne and I think we'd do Mr. (Titleman) last.  He's three hours behind so we'll give him some time to have some coffee and 
MS. VAFIADES:  Is Mr. Payne testifying tomorrow or available for questioning?
MR. COHEN:  Yes.  I think there was -- I think the --
MR. BUCKLEY:  Somebody had questions for him.
MR. COHEN:  Yeah, I think GridSolar --
MS. VAFIADES:  GridSolar and IECG.
MR. COHEN:  So I think -- he said he would be here.
MS. VAFIADES:  Oh, okay, I thought he was saying he couldn't be here.  Okay.
MR. COHEN:  No, I think he said he couldn't be here today.
MS. VAFIADES:  All right.

MR. COHEN:  He was scheduled for tomorrow and will be here.  My understanding.
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay, is there anything else you want to talk about in terms of the scheduling?

MR. COHEN:  No, I think we're all set.

MR. BRYANT:  I have a point.  Mr. Lanzalotta's flight was canceled.  He will be on the phone tomorrow and not here.  And I've already mentioned this to CMP, but if others have questions for him that involve exhibits, we need to figure out a way to get those exhibits in front of him.  Electronically obviously works fine.  There's also the possibility of FedExing.
MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  Is there anything else we need to do today.  Okay, thank you.
MS. FOURNIER:  Excuse me, Commissioner Vafiades?

MS. VAFIADES:  Yes?

MS. FOURNIER:  This is Mary Fournier.
MS. VAFIADES:  Yes, hi, Mrs. --
MS. FOURNIER:  I know I don't have any time to ask staff questions but because we're ahead of schedule and I had asked in my case memorandum for being able to ask questions of staff and I'm the only party who has not been allowed to ask questions, I'm wondering if I could ask just two questions of staff, please?
MS. VAFIADES:  Yes, go right ahead.

MS. FOURNIER:  Thank you very much.  Okay, does staff know that Maine's policy now regarding increasing the wind power megawatts requires that the wind power is to replace the fossil fuel power?

MR. BUCKLEY:  The -- the law that you're referring to, we don't have right in front of us.  It may say something like that to -- to make the source of generation more secure than the current source.  But we don't have it in front of us, so it's a little hard to remember it exactly.

MS. FOURNIER:  Okay.  And the second question is -- excuse me -- does the staff know if the energy conservation potentials to reduce loads with the smart meters to be installed by CMP over these next three years has been incorporated into the MPRP needs analysis and load forecasting, and if not, why not?

MS. HUNTINGTON:  Mary, this is Faith.  It's my understanding that -- that there has not been a discrete quantification of any incremental reductions in load from CMP's AMI system.  So it's my understanding that has not been included either in the load forecasts or on the demand response side.  I don't know the answer to the question why.

MS. FOURNIER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. VAFIADES:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  We're adjourned until tomorrow at 9:00 o'clock.

CONFERENCE ADJOURNED (February 11, 2010, 12:25 p.m.)
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